

WORKING PAPER NO. 502

An Adjustment Process-based Algorithm with Error Bounds for Approximating a Nash Equilibrium

Francesco Caruso, Maria Carmela Ceparano and Jacqueline Morgan

June 2018 This version March 2020



University of Naples Federico II



University of Salerno



Bocconi University, Milan

CSEF - Centre for Studies in Economics and Finance DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMICS - UNIVERSITY OF NAPLES 80126 NAPLES - ITALY Tel. and fax +39 081 675372 - e-mail: csef@unisa.it ISSN: 2240-9696



WORKING PAPER NO. 502

An Adjustment Process-based Algorithm with Error Bounds for Approximating a Nash Equilibrium

Francesco Caruso^{*}, Maria Carmela Ceparano^{*} and Jacqueline Morgan^{**}

Abstract

Regarding the approximation of Nash equilibria in games where the players have a continuum of strategies, there exist various algorithms based on best response dynamics and on its relaxed variants: from one step to the next, a player's strategy is updated by using explicitly a best response to the strategies of the other players that come from the previous steps. These iterative schemes generate sequences of strategy profiles which are constructed by using continuous optimization techniques and they have been shown to converge in the following situations: in zero-sum games or, in non zero-sum ones, under contraction assumptions or under linearity of best response functions. In this paper, we propose an algorithm which guarantees the convergence to a Nash equilibrium in two-player non zero-sum games when the best response functions are not necessarily linear, both their compositions are not contractions and the strategy sets are Hilbert spaces.

Firstly, we address the issue of uniqueness of the Nash equilibrium extending to a more general class the result obtained by Caruso, Ceparano, and Morgan [J. Math. Anal. Appl., 459 (2018), pp. 1208-1221] for weighted potential games. Then, we describe a theoretical approximation scheme based on a non-standard (non-convex) relaxation of best response iterations which converges to the unique Nash equilibrium of the game. Finally, we define a numerical approximation scheme relying on a derivative-free continuous optimization technique applied in a finite dimensional setting and we provide convergence results and error bounds.

Keywords: zero-sum game; saddle point; non-cooperative non zero-sum game; Nash equilibrium; uniqueness; theoretical and numerical approximation; fixed point; super monotone operator; best response algorithm; convex and non-convex relaxation; local variation method; error bound.

- * Università di Napoli Federico II. Postal address: Department of Economics, Università di Napoli Federico II, Via Cintia (Monte S. Angelo), 80126 Napoli, Italy. E-mails: francesco.caruso@unina.it and mariacarmela.ceparano@unina.it
- ^{**} Università di Napoli Federico II and CSEF. Postal address: Department of Economics, Università di Napoli Federico II, Via Cintia (Monte S. Angelo), 80126 Napoli, Italy. E-mail: morgan@unina.it

Table of contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Uniqueness of the Nash equilibrium
 - 2.1 Assumptions
 - 2.2 Uniqueness Theorem
 - 2.3 A fitting class of games
- 3. Theoretical Approximation of the Nash Equilibrium
- 4. Numerical Approximation of the Nash Equilibrium
 - 4.1 The local variation method
 - 4.2 The numerical inverse-adjusted best response algorithm
 - 4.3 Error bounds and rates of convergence

References

1 Introduction

Algorithms for the approximation of a Nash equilibrium in non-cooperative deterministic games where players have a continuum of strategies have been widely investigated both in Game Theory and in Optimization literature.

One of the most explored iterative schemes involves *best response dynamics*: from one step to the next one, a player's strategy is obtained choosing a best response to the strategies of the other players that come from the previous steps. Hence, algorithms based on such schemes generate sequences of strategy profiles which are constructed by using continuous optimization techniques.

In particular, in a two-player zero-sum games framework, Cherruault and Loridan proposed in [17] two methods to approach a Nash equilibrium (i.e., a saddle point of the payoff function of any player) when the strategy sets are Euclidean spaces, the payoff function of each player is jointly twice continuously differentiable, strictly convex and coercive in his variable, and one of the two compositions of the best response functions is a contraction. When the strategy sets are Hilbert spaces and the two compositions of the best response functions are not necessarily a contraction, Morgan introduced in [42] a theoretical algorithm which converges to a saddle point. Such an algorithm relies on a relaxed variant of the best response dynamics, where a player's strategy is obtained through a convex combination of his previous step strategy and of the best response. Moreover, a scheme of discretization is presented, together with a numerical algorithm for the approximation of the discretized problem, error bounds computations, and applications to differential games.

Then, in a general non-cooperative N-player games framework, Gabay and Moulin defined in [29] two types of relaxed procedures (connected to the Jacobi and the Gauss-Seidel methods with relaxation) when the strategy set of each player is the interval $[0, +\infty]$ and the Jacobian matrix (that is the $N \times N$ matrix whose general ij element is given by the partial derivative of player i's payoff function with respect to player *i*'s variable and player *j*'s variable) is strictly diagonally dominant. Li and Başar proposed in [37] an inaccurate search algorithm when the strategy sets are Hilbert spaces, the payoff function of each player is strongly convex in his variable and one of the two compositions of the best response functions is a contraction. Başar investigated in [5] the convergence of some relaxation algorithms for the approximation of Nash equilibria when the strategy sets are \mathbb{R} or \mathbb{R}^2 and the best response functions are linear, even when the two compositions of the best response functions are not a contraction. Attouch, Redont and Soubeyran presented in [2] an alternating proximal algorithm, also used to approach a Nash equilibrium for a special class of two-player weighted potential games: the players have the same strategy sets, assumed to be a Hilbert space, and the payoff functions are the sum of an individual component depending on their own strategy and of a quadratic component, the same for both players, depending on their joint strategies (hence, such payoff functions define a class of weighted potential games, in light of [12, Proposition 2]).

Table 1 summarizes the theoretical results previously mentioned; for a best response iterative method applied to an economic model see, for example, [36].

Hence, to the best of our knowledge, algorithms involving a best response-based approach which guarantee the convergence to a Nash equilibrium are not yet defined in the following situation for a two-player non zero-sum game: the best response functions are not assumed to be linear, the two compositions of the best response functions are not assumed to be contractions and the strategy sets are Hilbert spaces. Aim of this paper is to propose an iterative method which fills this lack. The iterative scheme we present involves a non-standard relaxation of the classical best response algorithm. In the usual relaxation techniques applied to a game theoretical setting (as in [42]), a current player's strategy

	Game class	Strategy sets	Payoff functions as- sumptions	Composition of BR functions
Cherruault, Loridan [17]	two-player	finite dimensional	strictly convex and coer-	contraction
	zero-sum	spaces	cive in its argument, dif-	
			ferentiable	
Morgan [42, 40, 41]	two-player	Hilbert spaces	strictly convex and coer-	not necessarily
	zero-sum		cive in its argument, dif-	
			ferentiable	
Gabay, Moulin [29]	N-player	$[0, +\infty[$	strict diagonally domi-	not necessarily
			nant	
Li, Başar [37]	two-player	Hilbert spaces	strongly convex in its	contraction
			argument and differen-	
			tiable	
Başar [5]	two-player	\mathbb{R} or \mathbb{R}^2	strongly convex in its ar-	not necessarily
			gument and quadratic	
Attouch, Redont,	two-player	Hilbert spaces	lower semicontinuous	contraction when the
Soubeyran [2]	weighted po-		and stricly convex in its	strategy sets are $\mathbb R$
	tential		argument	

Table 1: Some existing literature

is obtained via a convex combination of his previous step strategy and of the best response to the current strategy of the other player. Differently, in our approach the relaxation is obtained via an affine non-convex combination. Such non-standard combination is carried out through the so-called *inverse convex combinator* as defined in Definition 2.1. Motivations for its introduction will be illustrated at the beginning of Section 3, after the presentation of the suitable mathematical tools. The iterative method will be applied to a class of games for which the existence and uniqueness of the Nash equilibrium is ensured by extending a previous result obtained in [12] for weighted potential games.

Moreover, it will be designed a numerical approximation scheme (applicable offline with full knowledge of the game) for the unique Nash equilibrium which exploits a derivative-free optimization technique called *local variation method*, that was introduced in [15] for variational problems and used, in particular, in [17] for functional minimization problems and in [42, 19] for zero-sum games. The features of such a method will allow to prove the convergence of our numerical scheme and to compute error bounds and rates of convergence. However, apart from the local variation method, also first order and second order methods could be exploited in the implementation of the numerical approximation scheme; this investigation will be the subject of a future research.

We highlight that for constrained zero-sum games various numerical methods which make use of derivatives have been employed: for example, in [19] the local variation method, a conjugate gradient method and a quasi-Newton method have been used and compared, in [46, 14] primal-dual methods are involved, in [44, 31] proximal-like methods are entailed, and in [45] a comparison between two methods for stochastic optimization is illustrated.

For the sake of completeness we report that, beyond the best response dynamics approaches, various algorithms for finding Nash equilibria of general games make use of: the *Nikaido-Isoda function* (see, e.g., [53, 34, 18, 1]), the characterization of a Nash equilibrium by a variational inequality (see, e.g., the just cited [44, 46, 31] and [21, 23] for further discussions and references), the *ordinary differential equation* (*ODE*) methods (see, e.g., [51, 26, 13, 28, 50]) or sequences of Nash equilibria of "better-behaved" games (meaning that such approximating Nash equilibria are easier to compute, see e.g. [27] and [43, Section 4]). For algorithms on Generalized Nash equilibria (also called Social Nash equilibria) see, e.g., [22, Section 5].

Finally, we just mention that in situations where players have only partial knowledge of the strategy sets

and payoff functions, a broad literature concerns how a Nash equilibrium can be reached by means of adaptive or learning procedures (see, e.g., [49, 9, 11, 38] and references therein).

The paper is structured as follows. Section 2 concerns the issue of uniqueness of Nash equilibria: notation, assumptions and preliminary results are provided (Section 2.1), the existence of a unique Nash equilibrium is proved (Section 2.2) and a fitting class of games is defined together with a differential game example (Section 2.3). A theoretical iterative method for the approximation of the (unique) Nash equilibrium, called *Inverse-Adjusted Best Response Algorithm*, is presented in Section 3: the convergence is shown and error estimations are obtained. Section 4 is devoted to games with finite dimensional strategy sets. First, new assumptions are given in order to also handle situations where the best response functions are not analytically available and examples are presented. Then, a numerical approximation scheme, called *Numerical Inverse-Adjusted Best Response Algorithm*, is described by combining the theoretical iterative method with a continuous optimization technique (the local variation method, Section 4.1) in order to approximate the Nash equilibrium (Section 4.2). Finally, error bounds and rates of convergence for such an algorithm are proved in Section 4.3.

2 Uniqueness of the Nash equilibrium

Let $\Gamma := \{2, X, Y, F, G\}$ be a two-player normal form game. The first player's strategy set X and the second player's strategy set Y are real Hilbert spaces with inner products $(\cdot, \cdot)_X$ and $(\cdot, \cdot)_Y$, respectively, and associated norms $\|\cdot\|_X$ and $\|\cdot\|_Y$, respectively. The payoff functions F and G of the first and second player, respectively, are defined on $X \times Y$ with values in \mathbb{R} . We denote by R_1 the best response correspondence of player 1, i.e. R_1 is the set-valued map defined on Y by

$$R_1(y) \coloneqq \operatorname{Arg\,max}_{x \in X} F(x, y) = \{ x' \in X \mid F(x', y) \ge F(x, y), \text{ for any } x \in X \} \subseteq X.$$

Analogously, we denote by R_2 the best response correspondence of player 2, that is the set-valued map defined on X by $R_2(x) \coloneqq \operatorname{Arg} \max_{y \in Y} G(x, y) \subseteq Y$. Recall that a Nash equilibrium of Γ is a couple $(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) \in X \times Y$ such that $(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) \in R_1(\bar{y}) \times R_2(\bar{x})$. When R_1 and R_2 are single-valued, the function r_1 , defined by $\{r_1(y)\} \coloneqq R_1(y)$ for any $y \in Y$, and the function r_2 , defined by $\{r_2(x)\} \coloneqq R_2(x)$ for any $x \in X$, are called best response function of player 1 and best response function of player 2, respectively, and we denote by $\rho: X \to X$ the function defined by

$$\rho(x) \coloneqq (r_1 \circ r_2)(x) = r_1(r_2(x)). \tag{1}$$

In the next subsections, firstly the assumptions we deal with are stated together with some preliminary results, secondly the existence of a unique Nash equilibrium is proved for games satisfying such assumptions, finally a class of games fitting the uniqueness theorem is described. Such a class involves games with infinite dimensional strategy spaces and it contains also an example of differential games.

2.1 Assumptions

Let us introduce the following hypothesis on the best response correspondences that will be used for the uniqueness result.

 (\mathscr{H}_1) The best response correspondences R_1 and R_2 in Γ are single-valued.



Figure 1: Some graphical representations of g^{δ} .

Remark 2.1 Assumption (\mathscr{H}_1) is satisfied if, for example, the function $F(\cdot, y)$ is strongly concave on X for any $y \in Y$ and the function $G(x, \cdot)$ is strongly concave on Y for any $x \in X$ (see, e.g., [7, Corollary 11.16]).

The next definition introduces an operator which will play a key role in all the paper.

Definition 2.1 Let $\Gamma = \{2, X, Y, F, G\}$ be a game satisfying (\mathscr{H}_1) and let $\delta > 1$. The δ -inverse convex combinator of Γ is the function $g^{\delta} : X \to X$ defined by

$$g^{\delta}(x) \coloneqq \delta x - (\delta - 1)\rho(x), \tag{2}$$

where ρ is defined in (1).

Such a function, employed in [12, Section 3, p. 1213] in order to prove the existence of a unique Nash equilibrium in weighted potential games, is called δ -inverse convex combinator of Γ since x is a convex combination of $g^{\delta}(x)$ and $\rho(x)$ for any $x \in X$. Indeed, rearranging (2) we get $x = \alpha g^{\delta}(x) + (1 - \alpha)\rho(x)$, with $\alpha = 1/\delta \in]0, 1[$.

In particular, Figure 1 provides some graphical representations of g^{δ} . In Figure 1a, for a given function ρ we depict g^{δ} for some values of δ . In Figure 1b, we represent the composition ρ of the best response functions of the game $\Gamma = \{2, \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}, F, G\}$ where $F(x, y) = -x^2 + 4xy$, $G(x, y) = -y^2 + 6xy$ and we compute g^{δ} for $\delta = 23/20$.

Note that in Figure 1a g^{δ} and ρ have the same three fixed points and in Figure 1b they have the same unique fixed point. In fact, the next lemma, whose proof is straightforward and is omitted, summarizes the connections among the fixed points of g^{δ} , the fixed points of ρ and the Nash equilibria of Γ .

Lemma 2.1. Let $\delta > 1$ and assume that $\Gamma = \{2, X, Y, F, G\}$ satisfies (\mathcal{H}_1) . Then, the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) \bar{x} is a fixed point of g^{δ} .
- (ii) \bar{x} is a fixed point of g^{τ} , for any $\tau > 1$.
- (iii) \bar{x} is a fixed point of ρ .
- (iv) $(\bar{x}, r_2(\bar{x}))$ is a Nash equilibrium of Γ .

The introduction of the δ -inverse convex combinator of Γ will allow to prove, in this section, the existence of a unique Nash equilibrium of Γ when ρ is not a contraction, by means of the equivalences stated in Lemma 2.1. Afterward, such a combinator will play a crucial role in the definition of our theoretical iterative method for the approximation of the unique Nash equilibrium: the leading idea will be to replace the best response function of one player with a function (the δ -inverse convex combinator g^{δ}) whose properties allow to transform a divergent procedure into a convergent one. More detailed intuition and motivations underlying the latter issue will be explained at the beginning of Section 3 and they will be put in evidence in Figure 2.

Now, recall some usual notations. Let S and T be normed vector spaces equipped with the norms $\|\cdot\|_S$ and $\|\cdot\|_T$ respectively, and let $\mathcal{L}(S,T)$ be the normed vector space of all continuous linear operators from S to T, with the usual norm $\|\Lambda\|_{\mathcal{L}(S,T)} \coloneqq \sup\{\|\Lambda(s)\|_T \colon \|s\|_S = 1\}$. The space of all continuous linear operators from S to \mathbb{R} is denoted by S^* , and the duality operation between S^* and S by $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{S^* \times S}$. Let f be a function from S to T. If f is twice differentiable on S, then $Df \colon S \to \mathcal{L}(S,T)$ and $D^2f \colon S \to \mathcal{L}(S,\mathcal{L}(S,T))$ denote, respectively, the Fréchet derivative of f and the second Fréchet derivative of f, and by $Df(s) \in \mathcal{L}(S,T)$ and $D^2f(s) \in \mathcal{L}(S,\mathcal{L}(S,T))$ we mean, respectively, the derivative of f at $s \in S$ and the second derivative of f at $s \in S$. Moreover, $d_Gf \colon S \to \mathcal{L}(S,T)$ and $d_Gf(s) \in \mathcal{L}(S,T)$ denote, respectively, the Gâteaux derivative of f and the Gâteaux derivative of f at $s \in S$. When $S = S_1 \times \cdots \times S_n$, $D_{s_i}f \colon S \to \mathcal{L}(S_i,T)$ denotes the partial derivative of f with respect to s_i , and $D_{s_j}(D_{s_i}f) \colon S \to \mathcal{L}(S_j,\mathcal{L}(S_i,T))$ and $D_{s_i}^2f \colon S \to \mathcal{L}(S_i,\mathcal{L}(S_i,T))$, respectively, the second partial derivative of f with respect to s_i , for any $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ (clearly, $D_{s_i}(D_{s_i}f) \equiv D_{s_i}^2f$ for any $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$).

Finally, let $\mathcal{GL}(S,T) \subseteq \mathcal{L}(S,T)$ be the set of all bijective continuous linear operators from S to T with continuous (and linear) inverse. If $f \in \mathcal{GL}(S,T)$, then $f^{-1}: T \to S$ denotes the inverse operator of f and $f^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(T,S)$.

Hence, if F and G are twice differentiable we have $D_x^2 F(x,y) \in \mathcal{L}(X,X^*)$, $D_y^2 G(x,y) \in \mathcal{L}(Y,Y^*)$, $D_y(D_xF)(x,y) \in \mathcal{L}(Y,X^*)$, $D_x(D_yG)(x,y) \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y^*)$, for any $(x,y) \in X \times Y$, and we can define

$$\lambda_1 \coloneqq \sup_{(x,y)\in X\times Y} \|[D_x^2 F(x,y)]^{-1} \circ D_y(D_x F)(x,y)\|_{\mathcal{L}(Y,X)},\tag{3a}$$

$$\lambda_2 \coloneqq \sup_{(x,y)\in X\times Y} \|[D_y^2 G(x,y)]^{-1} \circ D_x(D_y G)(x,y)\|_{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)},\tag{3b}$$

$$\lambda \coloneqq \lambda_1 \cdot \lambda_2, \tag{3c}$$

provided that $D_x^2 F(x, y) \in \mathcal{GL}(X, X^*)$ and $D_y^2 G(x, y) \in \mathcal{GL}(Y, Y^*)$ for any $(x, y) \in X \times Y$. Throughout the paper, we deal with the class of games described in the next definition.

Definition 2.2 \mathcal{H} is the set of games $\Gamma = \{2, X, Y, F, G\}$ which satisfy the following assumptions:

- X and Y are real Hilbert spaces;
- F is twice continuously differentiable on $X \times Y$, $D_x^2 F(x, y) \in \mathcal{GL}(X, X^*)$ for any $(x, y) \in X \times Y$, and λ_1 defined in (3a) is a real number;
- G is twice continuously differentiable on $X \times Y$, $D_y^2 G(x, y) \in \mathcal{GL}(Y, Y^*)$ for any $(x, y) \in X \times Y$, and λ_2 defined in (3b) is a real number.

The next lemma states some regularity properties of the best response functions r_1 and r_2 , and of their composition ρ . The proof is obtained by extending to the class of games \mathcal{H} the proofs of Propositions 3

and 4 in [12] given for weighted potential games.

Lemma 2.2. Assume $\Gamma \in \mathcal{H}$ and satisfies (\mathcal{H}_1) . Then

- (i) r_1 is continuously differentiable on Y and Lipschitz continuous with Lipschitz constant no greater than λ_1 ;
- (ii) r_2 is continuously differentiable on X and Lipschitz continuous with Lipschitz constant no greater than λ_2 ;
- (iii) ρ is continuously differentiable on X and Lipschitz continuous with Lipschitz constant no greater than $\lambda = \lambda_1 \cdot \lambda_2$.

Proof. Let $y \in Y$. Since F is differentiable on $X \times Y$, the pair $(r_1(y), y)$ satisfies the equation $D_x F(r_1(y), y) = 0$. Therefore, by applying the Implicit Function Theorem, r_1 is continuously differentiable on Y and

$$Dr_1(y) = [D_x^2 F(r_1(y), y)]^{-1} \circ [D_y(D_x F)(r_1(y), y)] \in \mathcal{L}(Y, X).$$
(4)

Moreover, by the Mean Value Inequality and the definition of λ_1

$$||r_1(y_1) - r_1(y_2)||_X \le \sup_{t \in [0,1]} ||Dr_1(ty_1 + (1-t)y_2)||_{\mathcal{L}(Y,X)} ||y_1 - y_2||_Y \le \lambda_1 ||y_1 - y_2||_Y$$

for any $y_1, y_2 \in Y$. Hence, r_1 is Lipschitz continuous with Lipschitz constant no greater than λ_1 . Analogously, r_2 is continuously differentiable on X,

$$Dr_2(x) = [D_y^2 G(x, r_2(x))]^{-1} \circ [D_x(D_y G)(x, r_2(x))] \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$$
(5)

for any $x \in X$, and r_2 is Lipschitz continuous with Lipschitz constant no greater than λ_2 . Finally, by the chain rule and (4) and (5), ρ is continuously differentiable on X and

$$D\rho(x) = Dr_1(r_2(x)) \circ Dr_2(x)$$

= $[D_x^2 F(\rho(x), r_2(x))]^{-1} \circ [D_y(D_x F)(\rho(x), r_2(x))]$
 $\circ [D_y^2 G(x, r_2(x))]^{-1} \circ [D_x(D_y G)(x, r_2(x))] \in \mathcal{L}(X, X)$ (6)

for any $x \in X$. Furthermore, in light of (6) and the definition of λ ,

$$\sup_{x \in X} \|D\rho(x)\|_{\mathcal{L}(X,X)} \le \lambda_1 \cdot \lambda_2 = \lambda.$$
(7)

Hence, ρ is Lipschitz continuous with Lipschitz constant no greater than λ .

In order to introduce a further assumption, we state the following notion of monotonicity, used in [55] for solving functional equations (see also [33]), together with preliminary results.

Definition 2.3 An operator $\Lambda: X \to X$ is said to be *super monotone with constant* γ iff Λ is strongly monotone with constant γ , that is

$$(\Lambda x_1 - \Lambda x_2, x_1 - x_2)_X \ge \gamma \|x_1 - x_2\|_X^2$$
 for any $x_1, x_2 \in X$,

and, moreover, $\gamma > 1$.

Proposition 2.1. Let $\Lambda: X \to X$. Then

(i) if Λ is super monotone with constant γ , then Λ is strictly monotone (and, hence, monotone);

(ii) if Λ is super monotone with constant γ , then Λ is expansive, i.e. there exists $\sigma > 1$ such that

$$\|\Lambda(x_1) - \Lambda(x_2)\|_X \ge \sigma \|x_1 - x_2\|_X$$
 for any $x_1, x_2 \in X$,

and, moreover, the expansive constant σ is equal to γ ;

(iii) if Λ is differentiable and super monotone with constant γ , then

$$\sup_{x \in X} \|D\Lambda(x)\|_{\mathcal{L}(X,X)} \ge \gamma > 1$$

(iv) if Λ is differentiable and there exists $\gamma > 1$ such that, for any $x \in X$

$$(D\Lambda(x)\varphi,\varphi)_X \ge \gamma \|\varphi\|_X^2 \quad \text{for any } \varphi \in X,$$
(8)

then Λ is super monotone with constant γ .

Proof. (i) It follows immediately from Definition 2.3 and the definitions of monotone and strictly monotone operators.

(ii) Let Λ be super monotone with constant γ and let $x_1, x_2 \in X$. The Cauchy-Schwarz inequality implies that

$$\|\Lambda(x_1) - \Lambda(x_2)\|_X \|x_1 - x_2\|_X \ge (\Lambda(x_1) - \Lambda(x_2), x_1 - x_2)_X \ge \gamma \|x_1 - x_2\|_X^2$$

with $\gamma > 1$. Then

 $\|\Lambda(x_1) - \Lambda(x_2)\|_X \ge \gamma \|x_1 - x_2\|_X.$

As $\gamma > 1$ we have that Λ is expansive with expansive constant γ .

(iii) Let Λ be differentiable and super monotone with constant γ and let $x_1, x_2 \in X$. In light of Proposition 2.1(ii) and the Mean Value Inequality, we have

$$\begin{split} \gamma \|x_1 - x_2\|_X &\leq \|\Lambda(x_1) - \Lambda(x_2)\|_X \\ &\leq \sup_{t \in [0,1]} \|D\Lambda(tx_1 + (1-t)x_2)\|_{\mathcal{L}(X,X)} \|x_1 - x_2\|_X, \end{split}$$

with $\gamma > 1$. Hence, $\sup_{x \in X} \|D\Lambda(x)\|_{\mathcal{L}(X,X)} \ge \gamma > 1$.

(iv) Let $\gamma > 1$ such that (8) holds and let $x_1, x_2 \in X$. Thus, by applying the Mean Value Theorem to the real-valued function f defined by

$$f(s) \coloneqq (\Lambda(sx_1 + (1 - s)x_2), x_1 - x_2)_X, \text{ for any } s \in [0, 1],$$

there exists $t \in]0,1[$ such that

$$(\Lambda(x_1) - \Lambda(x_2), x_1 - x_2)_X = (D\Lambda(tx_1 + (1 - t)x_2)(x_1 - x_2), x_1 - x_2)_X$$

$$\geq \gamma \|x_1 - x_2\|_X^2.$$

Therefore, Λ is super monotone with constant γ .

For additional discussion on notions stronger than monotonicity see, for example, [7, Chapter 22]. For connections between expansiveness and existence of fixed points see, for example, [54]. We are now ready to introduce a further crucial hypothesis on games in the class \mathcal{H} satisfying (\mathcal{H}_1) .

(\mathscr{H}_2) The function $\rho = r_1 \circ r_2$ is super monotone with constant γ .

In the following remarks a sufficient condition for (\mathscr{H}_2) and a straightforward consideration on ρ are provided.

Remark 2.2 Let $H(x_1, x_2, y) : X \to X$ be the operator defined by

$$H(x_1, x_2, y) \coloneqq [D_x^2 F(x_1, y)]^{-1} \circ D_y(D_x F)(x_1, y)$$
$$\circ [D_y^2 G(x_2, y)]^{-1} \circ D_x(D_y G)(x_2, y),$$

where $x_1, x_2 \in X$ and $y \in Y$. Equality (6) implies that $D\rho(x) = H(\rho(x), x, r_2(x))$ for any $x \in X$. Hence, in light of Proposition 2.1(iv) assumption (\mathscr{H}_2) is satisfied if there exists $\gamma > 1$ such that, for any $x_1, x_2 \in X$ and $y \in Y$

$$(H(x_1, x_2, y)\varphi, \varphi)_X \ge \gamma \|\varphi\|_X^2$$
 for any $\varphi \in X$.

Remark 2.3 When $\Gamma \in \mathcal{H}$ and $(\mathcal{H}_1)-(\mathcal{H}_2)$ are satisfied, then the composition ρ of the best response functions cannot be a contraction and $\lambda \geq \gamma > 1$, as a straightforward consequence of Proposition 2.1 and inequality (7).

2.2 Uniqueness theorem

Before proving the existence of one and only one Nash equilibrium, let us associate to any game $\Gamma \in \mathcal{H}$ satisfying $(\mathcal{H}_1)-(\mathcal{H}_2)$ the following interval

$$I_{\lambda,\gamma} \coloneqq \left] 1, \frac{\lambda^2 - 1}{\lambda^2 - 2\gamma + 1} \right[. \tag{9}$$

It is worth to note that $I_{\lambda,\gamma} \neq \emptyset$ since $\lambda^2 - 2\gamma + 1 > 0$ and $\frac{\lambda^2 - 1}{\lambda^2 - 2\gamma + 1} > 1$ by Remark 2.3. The proof of the uniqueness result is obtained arguing similarly to the proof of Theorem 1 in [12].

Theorem 2.1. Assume $\Gamma \in \mathcal{H}$ and satisfies $(\mathcal{H}_1)-(\mathcal{H}_2)$. Then

- (i) the function g^{δ} as defined in (2) is a contraction, for any $\delta \in I_{\lambda,\gamma}$;
- (ii) the contraction constant of g^{δ} is minimal for $\delta = \frac{\lambda^2 \gamma}{\lambda^2 2\gamma + 1}$;
- (iii) the game Γ has a unique Nash equilibrium $(\bar{x}, r_2(\bar{x}))$, where \bar{x} is the unique fixed point of g^{δ} .

Proof. Let $\delta > 1$ and $x_1, x_2 \in X$, then

$$\|g^{\delta}(x_{1}) - g^{\delta}(x_{2})\|_{X}^{2} = \|\delta[x_{1} - x_{2}] - (\delta - 1)[\rho(x_{1}) - \rho(x_{2})]\|_{X}^{2}$$
$$= \delta^{2} \|x_{1} - x_{2}\|_{X}^{2} + (\delta - 1)^{2} \|\rho(x_{1}) - \rho(x_{2})\|_{X}^{2}$$
$$- 2\delta(\delta - 1)(\rho(x_{1}) - \rho(x_{2}), x_{1} - x_{2})_{X}.$$
(10)

In light of Lemma 2.2(iii) and hypothesis (\mathcal{H}_2) , from (10) it follows

$$\|g^{\delta}(x_1) - g^{\delta}(x_2)\|_X^2 \le \left[\delta^2 + (\delta - 1)^2\lambda^2 - 2\delta(\delta - 1)\gamma\right]\|x_1 - x_2\|_X^2$$

Let $K:]1, +\infty[\rightarrow \mathbb{R}$ be the function defined by

$$K(\delta) \coloneqq \delta^2 + (\delta - 1)^2 \lambda^2 - 2\delta(\delta - 1)\gamma.$$
⁽¹¹⁾

Being $\lambda \geq \gamma > 1$ (by Remark 2.3), K is a convex quadratic function of δ with minimum at $\frac{\lambda^2 - \gamma}{\lambda^2 - 2\gamma + 1} > 1$ and, since $K(\frac{\lambda^2 - \gamma}{\lambda^2 - 2\gamma + 1}) = \frac{\lambda^2 - \gamma^2}{\lambda^2 - 2\gamma + 1} \geq 0$, then $K(\delta) \geq 0$ for any $\delta > 1$. Furthermore, $K(\delta) < 1$ if and only if $\delta + 1 + (\delta - 1)\lambda^2 - 2\delta\gamma < 0$, that is if and only if $\delta \in I_{\lambda,\gamma}$. Therefore g^{δ} is a contraction for any $\delta \in I_{\lambda,\gamma}$ and the contraction constant of g^{δ} is minimal for $\delta = \frac{\lambda^2 - \gamma}{\lambda^2 - 2\gamma + 1}$. Finally, let $\bar{x} \in X$ be the unique fixed point of g^{δ} . Then, in light of Lemma 2.1, $(\bar{x}, r_2(\bar{x}))$ is the unique Nash equilibrium of Γ . In the following remark we investigate how the assumptions of Theorem 2.1 can be reformulated in a more compact way in the case where the game belongs to the class of weighted potential games and, consequently, how Theorem 2.1 extends the uniqueness result proved in [12, Theorem 1].

Remark 2.4 For the sake of completeness, we recall that Γ is said to be a weighted potential game ([39] and also, for example, [25, 10]) if there exist $w_1 > 0, w_2 > 0$, called weights, and a real-valued function P defined on $X \times Y$, called weighted potential of Γ , such that

$$F(x,y) - F(x',y) = w_1(P(x,y) - P(x',y)),$$

$$G(x,y) - G(x,y') = w_2(P(x,y) - P(x,y')),$$

for any $x, x' \in X$ and any $y, y' \in Y$. When $w_1 = w_2 = 1$, Γ is said to be a *potential game* and we refer to P as *potential of* Γ .

In light of the characterization of weighted potential games given in [25, Theorem 2.1], the set of Nash equilibria of a weighted potential game $\Gamma = \{2, X, Y, F, G\}$ is equal to the set of Nash equilibria of the game $\Gamma_P = \{2, X, Y, P, P\}$. Hence, in this framework, we can require that assumptions of Theorem 2.1 hold for the "simplified" game Γ_P , and this can be employed by making assumptions directly on function P.

In fact, Γ_P belongs to \mathcal{H} if P is twice continuously differentiable on $X \times Y$, $D_x^2 P(x, y) \in \mathcal{GL}(X, X^*)$ and $D_y^2 P(x, y) \in \mathcal{GL}(Y, Y^*)$ for any $(x, y) \in X \times Y$, and

$$\sup_{(x,y)\in X\times Y} \|D_x^2 P(x,y)^{-1} \circ D_y(D_x P)(x,y)\|_{\mathcal{L}(Y,X)} \in \mathbb{R},$$

$$\sup_{(x,y)\in X\times Y} \|D_y^2 P(x,y)^{-1} \circ D_x(D_y P)(x,y)\|_{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)} \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Moreover, (\mathscr{H}_1) holds if P is strongly concave in each argument (in light of Remark 2.1) whereas (\mathscr{H}_2) holds if there exists $\gamma > 1$ such that, for any $x_1, x_2 \in X$ and $y \in Y$

$$([D_x^2 P(x_1, y)^{-1} \circ D_y(D_x P)(x_1, y) \circ D_y^2 P(x_2, y)^{-1} \circ D_x(D_y P)(x_2, y)]\varphi, \varphi)_X \ge \gamma \|\varphi\|_X^2,$$

for any $\varphi \in X$ (in light of Remark 2.2).

In [12, Theorem 1 and Proposition 6] we proved that the conditions stated above guarantee the existence of a unique Nash equilibrium regardless of either the strict concavity of P over $X \times Y$ or the existence of a maximizer of P, whereas the literature on uniqueness of Nash equilibrium in weighted potential games is essentially based on the strict concavity of P over $X \times Y$ and on the existence of a maximizer of P (see [47, Corollary of Theorem 1]). Moreover, recall that, when Γ is a potential game and the potential Pis a differentiable function, the operator $-(D_xF, D_yG)$ equals the operator $-(D_xP, D_yP)$, so the strict (resp. strong) monotonicity of $-(D_xF, D_yG)$ is equivalent to the strict (resp. strong) concavity of Pover $X \times Y$ (see, e.g., [32, Theorems 2.1 and 2.4]). Therefore, given all the above, the uniqueness result in Theorem 2.1 neither implies nor it is implied by the results on uniqueness of Nash equilibria based on the properties of monotonicity of $-(D_xF, D_yG)$, like for example [51, Theorem 2] or [32, Theorem 5.1].

In the next example, we illustrate a class of weighted potential games whose weighted potential function P satisfies the conditions stated in Remark 2.4. Such a class is similar to the one considered in [12, Subsection 4.2] and is exhibited for the sake of completeness.

Example 2.1 Let $\Gamma = \{2, X, Y, F, G\}$ be the game with $X = Y = \mathbb{R}$ and

$$F(x,y) = h_F(x) + k_F(y) \pm \beta_F xy$$

$$G(x,y) = h_G(y) + k_G(x) \pm \beta_G xy,$$

where $h_F : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ and $h_G : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ are twice continuously differentiable functions,¹ $k_F : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$, $k_G : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}, \beta_F > 0$ and $\beta_G > 0$.

Assume that

$$M_F \coloneqq -\inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}} D^2 h_F(x) \in \mathbb{R}, \qquad m_F \coloneqq -\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} D^2 h_F(x) > 0,$$

$$M_G \coloneqq -\inf_{y \in \mathbb{R}} D^2 h_G(y) \in \mathbb{R}, \qquad m_G \coloneqq -\sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} D^2 h_G(y) > 0,$$

$$M_F M_G < \beta_F \beta_G.$$
(12)

Then, Γ is a weighted potential game with weights β_F , β_G and weighted potential

$$P(x,y) = \frac{h_F(x)}{\beta_F} + \frac{h_G(y)}{\beta_G} \pm xy,$$

and, for any $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$

$$D_x^2 P(x,y) = \frac{D^2 h_F(x)}{\beta_F} \le -\frac{m_F}{\beta_F} < 0, \quad D_y^2 P(x,y) = \frac{D^2 h_G(y)}{\beta_G} \le -\frac{m_G}{\beta_G} < 0.$$
(13)

Moreover,

$$\sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{R}^2} \left| \frac{D_y(D_x P)(x,y)}{D_x^2 P(x,y)} \right| = \frac{\beta_F}{m_F}, \quad \sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{R}^2} \left| \frac{D_x(D_y P)(x,y)}{D_y^2 P(x,y)} \right| = \frac{\beta_G}{m_G},\tag{14}$$

and for any $x_1, x_2, y \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\frac{D_y(D_x P)(x_1, y) \cdot D_x(D_y P)(x_2, y)}{D_x^2 P(x_1, y) \cdot D_y^2 P(x_2, y)} \ge \frac{\beta_F \beta_G}{M_F M_G} > 1.$$
(15)

Then, by (13) to (15), the weighted potential P fulfills the conditions of Remark 2.4. Assumptions in (12) hold when, for example

$$h_F(x) = \frac{1}{1+x^2} - 4x^2 + x, \quad h_G(y) = \frac{1}{1+y^2} - 4y^2 + y, \quad \beta_F = \beta_G = 12, \tag{16}$$

since, in this case, $M_F = M_G = 10$ and $m_F = m_G = 15/2$.

2.3 A fitting class of games

In this subsection, we propose a class of games satisfying the hypotheses of Theorem 2.1 and which involves games with infinite dimensional strategy spaces and quadratic payoff functions. Such a class includes the class of weighted potential games considered in [12, Subsection 4.1]. Let $\Gamma = \{2, X, Y, F, G\}$ be the game with

$$F(x,y) = -a_F(x,x) + L_F(x) + c_F + f(y) + b_F(y,x)$$

$$G(x,y) = -a_G(y,y) + L_G(y) + c_G + g(x) + b_G(x,y),$$
(17)

where $a_F: X \times X \to \mathbb{R}, b_F: Y \times X \to \mathbb{R}, a_G: Y \times Y \to \mathbb{R}$ and $b_G: X \times Y \to \mathbb{R}$ are bilinear continuous operators, $f: Y \to \mathbb{R}, g: X \to \mathbb{R}$ are twice continuously differentiable, $L_F \in X^*, L_G \in Y^*$, and $c_F, c_G \in \mathbb{R}$.

Assume that there exist $\alpha_F > 0, \alpha_G > 0$ such that for any $x \in X$ and any $y \in Y$

$$a_F(x,x) \ge \alpha_F \|x\|_X^2, \qquad a_G(y,y) \ge \alpha_G \|y\|_Y^2,$$
(18)

¹It is worth to remind that in this case the derivatives $D_x^2 F$ and $D_y(D_x F)$ can be identified with the usual derivatives of real-valued functions defined on \mathbb{R}^2 , $[D_x^2 F(x,y)]^{-1}$ exists provided that $D_x^2 F(x,y) \neq 0$, and $[D_x^2 F(x,y)]^{-1} = 1/D_x^2 F(x,y)$. Analogous considerations apply to $D_y^2 G$ and $D_x(D_y G)$.

and, moreover, let $A_F \in \mathcal{L}(X, X^*)$, $A_G \in \mathcal{L}(Y, Y^*)$, $B_F \in \mathcal{L}(Y, X^*)$ and $B_G \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y^*)$ such that for any $x, x_1, x_2 \in X$ and any $y, y_1, y_2 \in Y$

$$a_F(x_1, x_2) = \langle A_F x_1, x_2 \rangle_{X^* \times X}, \quad b_F(y, x) = \langle B_F y, x \rangle_{X^* \times X}, \tag{19a}$$

$$a_G(y_1, y_2) = \langle A_G y_1, y_2 \rangle_{Y^* \times Y}, \quad b_G(x, y) = \langle B_G x, y \rangle_{Y^* \times Y}.$$
(19b)

Then, F and G are twice continuously differentiable on $X \times Y$ and for any $(x, y) \in X \times Y$

$$D_x^2 F(x,y) = -2A_F, \quad D_y(D_x F)(x,y) = B_F, D_y^2 G(x,y) = -2A_G, \quad D_x(D_y G)(x,y) = B_G.$$
(20)

In light of (18), (19a) and (19b), the Lax-Milgram Theorem (see, e.g., [35]) guarantees that $D_x^2 F(x, y) \in \mathcal{GL}(X, X^*)$ and $D_y^2 G(x, y) \in \mathcal{GL}(Y, Y^*)$ for any $(x, y) \in X \times Y$ and, by definition of λ_1 and λ_2 in (3a)–(3b) and by (20), we get

$$\lambda_1 = \frac{1}{2} \|A_F^{-1} \circ B_F\|_{\mathcal{L}(Y,X)} \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \lambda_2 = \frac{1}{2} \|A_G^{-1} \circ B_G\|_{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)} \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Therefore, Γ belongs to \mathcal{H} . Furthermore, Γ satisfies (\mathscr{H}_1) in light of (20) and Remark 2.1, and (\mathscr{H}_2) holds if there exists $\gamma > 1$ such that

$$([A_F^{-1} \circ B_F \circ A_G^{-1} \circ B_G] \varphi, \varphi)_X \ge 4\gamma \|\varphi\|_X^2 \quad \text{for any } \varphi \in X,$$
(21)

in light of Remark 2.2.

In the following proposition, sufficient conditions for inequality (21) are provided.

Proposition 2.2. Let Γ be a game whose payoff functions are defined as in (17) and satisfy (18), (19a) and (19b). Assume that X and Y coincide with the same Hilbert space $Z \coloneqq X = Y$, and let $(\cdot, \cdot)_Z$ and $((\cdot, \cdot))_Z$ be two inner products on Z. If there exist $\beta_F, \beta_G \in \mathbb{R}$ such that for any $z_1, z_2 \in Z$

$$a_F(z_1, z_2) = \alpha_F \cdot (z_1, z_2)_Z, \quad b_F(z_2, z_1) = \beta_F \cdot (z_2, z_1)_Z, \tag{22a}$$

$$a_G(z_1, z_2) = \alpha_G \cdot ((z_1, z_2))_Z, \quad b_G(z_1, z_2) = \beta_G \cdot ((z_1, z_2))_Z, \tag{22b}$$

and $\beta_F \beta_G > 4 \alpha_F \alpha_G$, then there exists $\gamma > 1$ whereby inequality (21) holds.

Proof. Let $\varphi \in Z$; then in light of (19b) and (22b)

$$\langle B_G \varphi, z_2 \rangle_{Z^* \times Z} = \beta_G \cdot ((\varphi, z_2))_Z, \text{ for any } z_2 \in Z.$$
 (23)

Since $A_G \in \mathcal{GL}(Z, Z^*)$, then $A_G^{-1}(B_G \varphi)$ is the unique $z_2 \in Z$ such that $A_G z_2 = B_G \varphi$, that is $\langle A_G z_2, k \rangle_{Z^* \times Z} = \langle B_G \varphi, k \rangle_{Z^* \times Z}$ for any $k \in Z$. By (19b), (22b) and (23)

$$\alpha_G \cdot ((z_2, k))_Z = \beta_G \cdot ((\varphi, k))_Z$$
, for any $k \in Z$;

so $A_G^{-1}(B_G\varphi) = z_2 = \frac{\beta_G}{\alpha_G}\varphi$.

Hence, in light of (19a) and (22a) the operator $B_F(A_G^{-1}(B_G\varphi)) \in Z^*$ is defined by

$$\langle B_F(A_G^{-1}(B_G\varphi)), h \rangle_{Z^* \times Z} = \frac{\beta_F \beta_G}{\alpha_G} \cdot (\varphi, h)_Z, \text{ for any } h \in Z.$$
 (24)

Since $A_F \in \mathcal{GL}(Z, Z^*)$, then $A_F^{-1}(B_F(A_G^{-1}(B_G\varphi)))$ is the unique $z_1 \in Z$ such that $A_F z_1 = B_F(A_G^{-1}(B_G\varphi))$, that is $\langle A_F z_1, h \rangle_{Z^* \times Z} = \langle B_F(A_G^{-1}(B_G\varphi)), h \rangle_{Z^* \times Z}$ for any $h \in Z$. Therefore, by (19a), (22a) and (24)

$$\alpha_F \cdot (z_1, h)_Z = \frac{\beta_F \beta_G}{\alpha_G} (\varphi, h)_Z, \quad \text{for any } h \in Z;$$

 \mathbf{SO}

$$A_F^{-1}(B_F(A_G^{-1}(B_G\varphi))) = z_1 = \frac{\beta_F \beta_G}{\alpha_F \alpha_G}\varphi$$

Being φ arbitrary in Z, it follows that

$$([A_F^{-1} \circ B_F \circ A_G^{-1} \circ B_G]\varphi, \varphi)_Z = \frac{\beta_F \beta_G}{\alpha_F \alpha_G} \|\varphi\|_Z^2, \quad \text{for any } \varphi \in Z,$$

where $\|\cdot\|_Z$ is the norm associated with the inner product $(\cdot, \cdot)_Z$. Hence, since $\beta_F \beta_G > 4\alpha_F \alpha_G$, inequality (21) holds for $\gamma = \frac{\beta_F \beta_G}{4\alpha_F \alpha_G}$.

We highlight that also some differential games (for definitions see, e.g., [6, 20]) can be included in the class of games just presented. We illustrate an example below.

Example 2.2 Let us consider a two-player infinite horizon differential game where the control variables u_F, u_G belong to $U \coloneqq L^2([0, +\infty[), \text{ the state variable } x : [0, +\infty[\rightarrow \mathbb{R} \text{ evolves according to the equation}]$

$$\dot{x}(t) = u_F(t) + u_G(t) - mx(t), \tag{25}$$

with $x(0) = x_0 > 0$ and m > 0, and the instantaneous profits of players at time t are

$$\pi_F(x(t), u_F(t), u_G(t)) \coloneqq x(t) - \alpha_F[u_F(t)]^2 + \beta_F u_F(t) u_G(t), \pi_G(x(t), u_F(t), u_G(t)) \coloneqq x(t) - \alpha_G[u_G(t)]^2 + \beta_G u_F(t) u_G(t),$$

with $\alpha_F > 0, \alpha_G > 0, \beta_F \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\beta_G \in \mathbb{R}$. So, players' objective functional are

$$J_F(x, u_F, u_G) = \int_0^\infty e^{-i_F t} \pi_F(x(t), u_F(t), u_G(t)) dt,$$

$$J_G(x, u_F, u_G) = \int_0^\infty e^{-i_G t} \pi_G(x(t), u_F(t), u_G(t)) dt,$$
(26)

where $i_F \ge 0$ and $i_G \ge 0$ are the discount rates of the first and second player, respectively. The differential game described above has a structure similar to the one often employed in knowledge accumulation models (see, for example, [20, Example 7.1 and Section 9.5]) and also in advertising models (see, for example, [20, Section 11.3]).

Substituting the solution of the first-order differential equation (25) in (26), we can rewrite the players' objective functionals as functions of the control variables only.² Denoted such functions by F and G, we obtain

$$\begin{split} F(u_F, u_G) &= \int_0^\infty e^{-i_F t} \left\{ x_0 e^{-mt} - \alpha_F [u_F(t)]^2 + \beta_F u_F(t) u_G(t) + e^{-mt} \int_0^t [u_F(s) + u_G(s)] e^{ms} \, ds \right\} \, dt \\ G(u_F, u_G) &= \int_0^\infty e^{-i_G t} \left\{ x_0 e^{-mt} - \alpha_G [u_G(t)]^2 + \beta_G u_F(t) u_G(t) + e^{-mt} \int_0^t [u_F(s) + u_G(s)] e^{ms} \, ds \right\} \, dt \end{split}$$

for any $(u_F, u_G) \in U \times U$. Then, the game $\Gamma = \{2, U, U, F, G\}$ belongs to the class of games considered

²The solution of differential equation (25) is $x(t) = x_0 e^{-mt} + e^{-mt} \int_0^t [u_F(s) + u_G(s)] e^{ms} ds.$

in this subsection and characterized by (17), where

$$a_F(u'_F, u''_F) = \alpha_F \int_0^\infty e^{-i_F t} u'_F(t) u''_F(t) \, dt, \quad \text{for any } u'_F, \, u''_F \in U;$$
(27a)

$$a_G(u'_G, u''_G) = \alpha_G \int_0^\infty e^{-i_G t} u'_G(t) u''_G(t) dt, \quad \text{for any } u'_G, u''_G \in U;$$
(27b)

$$b_F(u_G, u_F) = \beta_F \int_0^\infty e^{-i_F t} u_F(t) u_G(t) dt, \quad \text{for any } u_F, u_G \in U;$$
(27c)

$$b_G(u_F, u_G) = \beta_G \int_0^\infty e^{-i_G t} u_F(t) u_G(t) dt, \quad \text{for any } u_F, u_G \in U;$$
(27d)

$$L_{F}(u_{F}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-(i_{F}+m)t} \left[\int_{0}^{t} e^{ms} u_{F}(s) \, ds \right] dt, \quad \text{for any } u_{F} \in U;$$

$$L_{G}(u_{G}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-(i_{G}+m)t} \left[\int_{0}^{t} e^{ms} u_{G}(s) \, ds \right] dt, \quad \text{for any } u_{G} \in U;$$

$$f(u_{G}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-(i_{F}+m)t} \left[\int_{0}^{t} e^{ms} u_{G}(s) \, ds \right] dt, \quad \text{for any } u_{G} \in U;$$

$$g(u_{F}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-(i_{G}+m)t} \left[\int_{0}^{t} e^{ms} u_{F}(s) \, ds \right] dt, \quad \text{for any } u_{F} \in U;$$

$$c_{F} = \int_{0}^{\infty} x_{0} e^{-(i_{F}+m)t} \, dt, \quad c_{G} = \int_{0}^{\infty} x_{0} e^{-(i_{G}+m)t} \, dt.$$

In particular, the operators a_F , a_G , b_F , b_G in (27a)–(27d) are of the same type of the operators described in (22a) and (22b) where Z = U and the two inner products on U are defined by

$$(u_F, u_G)_U \coloneqq \int_0^\infty e^{-i_F t} u_F(t) u_G(t) \, dt, \quad \text{for any } u_F, \, u_G \in U,$$
$$((u_F, u_G))_U \coloneqq \int_0^\infty e^{-i_G t} u_F(t) u_G(t) \, dt, \quad \text{for any } u_F, \, u_G \in U.$$

Finally, we point out that $\Gamma = \{2, U, U, F, G\}$ is not, in general, a weighted potential game.

3 Theoretical approximation of the Nash equilibrium

The classical best response algorithm (where the player's strategy at the current step is the best response to the previous strategy of the other player) is well-known to converge both in zero-sum and in non zerosum games if the composition ρ of the best response functions is a contraction, as shown in [17] and in [37]. Moreover, in zero-sum games, convex relaxations of such an algorithm (where the player's strategy at the current step is a convex combination of his previous strategy and of the best response to the current strategy of the other player) have been proved to converge for special choices of the convex combinations' coefficients even when ρ is not a contraction, as shown in [42]. Nevertheless, the classical best response algorithm as well as each of its convex relaxations may fail to converge in non zero-sum games when ρ is not a contraction. So, our motivating reason concerns how modifying a best response algorithm in order to ensure the convergence in non zero-sum games when ρ is not a contraction. The idea is to adjust "reversely" the best response of one player: we define an affine non-convex combination (instead of a convex combination) whereby the previous strategy is in-between the current strategy and the best response to the current strategy of the other player.

Relying on the just mentioned considerations, we formalize now an iterative method that allows to approach the Nash equilibrium of Γ (whose uniqueness is ensured by Theorem 2.1).

Hence, assume Γ belongs to \mathcal{H} and satisfies $(\mathcal{H}_1)-(\mathcal{H}_2)$; we remind that under such assumptions ρ is not a contraction (see Remark 2.3). Let $\delta \in I_{\lambda,\gamma}$, where $I_{\lambda,\gamma}$ is defined in (9).

Inverse-Adjusted Best Response Algorithm (\mathcal{A}^{δ})

(Step 0) Choose an initial point $y_0 \in Y$ and compute $x_0 = r_1(y_0)$.

$$(Step 1) \quad \text{Compute} \begin{cases} y_1 = r_2(x_0) \\ x_1 = \delta x_0 - (\delta - 1)r_1(y_1) = g^{\delta}(x_0). \\ \vdots \\ (Step n) \quad \text{Compute} \end{cases} \begin{cases} y_n = r_2(x_{n-1}) \\ x_n = \delta x_{n-1} - (\delta - 1)r_1(y_n) = g^{\delta}(x_{n-1}). \end{cases}$$

Remark 3.1 In the special case where the strategy sets are \mathbb{R} and the best response functions are assumed to be linear, (\mathcal{A}^{δ}) corresponds to a relaxation algorithm described in [5, equations (3.4) p. 536].

At step n, the algorithm (\mathcal{A}^{δ}) firstly selects the best response of the second player, i.e., $y_n = r_2(x_{n-1})$; then, it selects a non-convex combination of the strategy of the first player coming from step n-1 and of his best response to y_n , i.e. $x_n = \delta x_{n-1} - (\delta - 1)r_1(y_n)$ with $\delta \in I_{\lambda,\gamma} \subseteq]1, +\infty[$ (note that (\mathcal{A}^{δ}) would coincide with the classical best response algorithm when $\delta = 0$ and with its convex relaxations when varying $\delta \in]0,1[$). Intuitively, it is as if the algorithm computes $r_1(y_n)$ in an imaginary intermediate step and then it adjusts such an $r_1(y_n)$ inversely with respect to x_{n-1} . Such an inversion is carried out by the δ -inverse convex combinator of Γ , that is the function g^{δ} defined in (2).

Figure 2 provides some graphical insights related to the algorithm (\mathcal{A}^{δ}) applied to the game $\Gamma = \{2, \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}, F, G\}$, where $F(x, y) = -x^2 + 4xy$, $G(x, y) = -y^2 + 6xy$, choosing $\delta = 23/20$ (such a game belongs to \mathcal{H} and satisfies $(\mathscr{H}_1)-(\mathscr{H}_2)$, the unique Nash equilibrium is (0, 0)). In particular, Figures 2a and 2b display the first two iterations of (\mathcal{A}^{δ}) : we note that x_0 is in-between x_1 and $r_1(y_1)$, x_1 is inbetween x_2 and $r_1(y_2)$, and that the approximations x_1, x_2 and y_1, y_2 approach the Nash equilibrium strategies. In Figure 2c we mainly focus on the restriction to g^{δ} of the first two iterations of (\mathcal{A}^{δ}) : x_1, x_2 approach the unique fixed point of g^{δ} , which coincides with the unique fixed point of ρ (according to Lemma 2.1). Figure 2d depicts the first two iterations of the classical best response algorithm applied to Γ : such an algorithm clearly diverges (as ρ is not a contraction), as well as any convex relaxed variant.

In the next theorem the convergence of the algorithm is stated.

Theorem 3.1. Assume $\Gamma \in \mathcal{H}$ and satisfies $(\mathcal{H}_1) - (\mathcal{H}_2)$. Let (\bar{x}, \bar{y}) be the unique Nash equilibrium of Γ . Equipped the product space $X \times Y$ with the norm defined by

$$\|(x,y)\|_{X\times Y} \coloneqq \|x\|_X + \|y\|_Y, \quad \text{for any } (x,y) \in X \times Y, \tag{28}$$

then the sequence $(x_n, y_n)_n$ generated by the algorithm (\mathcal{A}^{δ}) is strongly convergent to (\bar{x}, \bar{y}) in $X \times Y$, for any $\delta \in I_{\lambda,\gamma}$. Furthermore

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} F(x_n, y_n) = F(\bar{x}, \bar{y}), \quad \lim_{n \to +\infty} G(x_n, y_n) = G(\bar{x}, \bar{y}).$$
⁽²⁹⁾

Proof. The existence of a unique Nash equilibrium of Γ is guaranteed by Theorem 2.1(iii). Let $\delta \in I_{\lambda,\gamma}$. Since $\bar{y} = r_2(\bar{x})$, then \bar{x} is the unique fixed point of g^{δ} by Lemma 2.1. In light of Theorem 2.1(i), g^{δ} is a contraction with related (estimated) contraction constant $\kappa(\delta)$ where

$$\kappa(\delta) \coloneqq [K(\delta)]^{1/2} \tag{30}$$



Figure 2: Some graphical representations related to the algorithm (\mathcal{A}^{δ}) .

with $K(\delta)$ defined in (11). Moreover,

$$\|x_n - \bar{x}\|_X = \|g^{\delta}(x_{n-1}) - g^{\delta}(\bar{x})\|_X \le \kappa(\delta) \|x_{n-1} - \bar{x}\|_X \le \dots \le \kappa(\delta)^{n-1} \|x_1 - \bar{x}\|,$$

for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$. As $\kappa(\delta) < 1$, then $\lim_{n \to +\infty} ||x_n - \bar{x}||_X = 0$. Therefore, the sequence $(x_n)_n$ is strongly convergent to \bar{x} . Furthermore, by Lemma 2.2(ii)

$$||y_n - \bar{y}||_Y = ||r_2(x_{n-1}) - r_2(\bar{x})||_Y \le \lambda_2 ||x_{n-1} - \bar{x}||_X$$
, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Since $\lim_{n\to+\infty} ||x_{n-1} - \bar{x}||_X = 0$, the sequence $(y_n)_n$ is strongly convergent to \bar{y} . So, the sequence $(x_n, y_n)_n$ strongly converges to (\bar{x}, \bar{y}) in light of (28).

Finally, equalities in (29) follow from the continuity of F and G.

In the next proposition the error estimations of the sequences generated by the algorithm (\mathcal{A}^{δ}) are computed.

Proposition 3.1. Assume $\Gamma \in \mathcal{H}$ and satisfies $(\mathcal{H}_1)-(\mathcal{H}_2)$. Let (\bar{x}, \bar{y}) be the unique Nash equilibrium of Γ . Then, for any $\delta \in I_{\lambda,\gamma}$, the following estimations hold

$$\|x_n - \bar{x}\|_X \le \frac{\kappa(\delta)^n}{1 - \kappa(\delta)} \|x_1 - x_0\|_X \quad \text{for any } n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(31a)

$$\|y_{n+1} - \bar{y}\|_Y \le \frac{\kappa(\delta)^n \lambda_2}{1 - \kappa(\delta)} \|x_1 - x_0\|_X \quad \text{for any } n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(31b)

where κ is defined in (30).

Proof. Let $\delta \in I_{\lambda,\gamma}$. In light of Theorem 2.1(i), g^{δ} is a contraction and the relative (estimated) contraction constant is $\kappa(\delta)$, so

$$||x_{n+1} - x_n||_X \le \kappa(\delta) ||x_n - x_{n-1}||_X \le \ldots \le \kappa(\delta)^n ||x_1 - x_0||_X$$
 for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Consequently, for any $p \in \mathbb{N}$ we get

$$\|x_{n+p} - x_n\|_X \le \sum_{j=1}^p \|x_{n+j} - x_{n+j-1}\|_X$$

$$\le \sum_{j=1}^p \kappa(\delta)^{n+j-1} \|x_1 - x_0\|_X = \frac{\kappa(\delta)^n (1 - \kappa(\delta)^p)}{1 - \kappa(\delta)} \|x_1 - x_0\|_X.$$
(32)

Hence, inequality (31a) follows from (32) taking the limit as $p \to +\infty$ since $\kappa(\delta) < 1$. Finally, by Lemma 2.2(ii) and (31a) we get

$$\|y_{n+1} - \bar{y}\|_{Y} = \|r_{2}(x_{n}) - r_{2}(\bar{x})\|_{Y} \le \lambda_{2} \|x_{n} - \bar{x}\|_{X} \le \frac{\kappa(\delta)^{n}\lambda_{2}}{1 - \kappa(\delta)} \|x_{1} - x_{0}\|_{X},$$
(31b) is proved.

so inequality (31b) is proved.

It is worth to note that the convergence of the theoretical algorithm (\mathcal{A}^{δ}) grounds on the fact that g^{δ} is a contraction, for any $\delta \in I_{\lambda,\gamma}$. As the estimation of the contraction constant of g^{δ} is given by $\kappa(\delta)$ defined in (30), a natural choice of the parameter in $I_{\lambda,\gamma}$ could be the one associated with the inverse convex combinator whose contraction constant is minimal. We call ν such a value, that is

$$\nu \coloneqq \frac{\lambda^2 - \gamma}{\lambda^2 - 2\gamma + 1} \tag{33}$$

in light of Theorem 2.1(ii), and we denote by k the associated contraction constant, that is

$$k \coloneqq \kappa(\nu) = \left(\frac{\lambda^2 - \gamma^2}{\lambda^2 - 2\gamma + 1}\right)^{1/2}.$$
(34)

Therefore, in the next section we deal only with the algorithm (\mathcal{A}^{δ}) when δ takes the value ν . For notational convenience we will refer to it as the algorithm (\mathcal{A}) , illustrated below.

 $Inverse-Adjusted \,\,Best\,\,Response\,\,Algorithm\,\,({\cal A})$

 $\begin{array}{ll} (Step \ \theta) & \text{Choose an initial point } y_0 \in Y \text{ and compute } x_0 = r_1(y_0). \\ (Step \ 1) & \text{Compute} & \begin{cases} y_1 = r_2(x_0) \\ x_1 = \nu x_0 - (\nu - 1)r_1(y_1) = g^{\nu}(x_0). \\ \vdots \\ (Step \ n) & \text{Compute} & \begin{cases} y_n = r_2(x_{n-1}) \\ x_n = \nu x_{n-1} - (\nu - 1)r_1(y_n) = g^{\nu}(x_{n-1}). \\ \vdots \\ \end{cases} \end{array}$

4 Numerical approximation of the Nash equilibrium

Inverse-Adjusted Best Response Algorithm (\mathcal{A}) illustrated in Section 3 involves the best response functions of the game Γ . In this section we propose a numerical method which can be fruitfully used when the analytic expressions of the best response functions are not available. For the sake of brevity, we consider from now on only games whose strategy sets are finite dimensional spaces and we defer to future research the case of infinite dimensional strategy spaces together with the application of the numerical approximation to classes of differential games.

So, let $\Gamma_{p,q} = \{2, X_p, Y_q, F, G\}$ where X_p is a *p*-dimensional space and Y_q is a *q*-dimensional space, and F and G now are real-valued functions defined on $X_p \times Y_q$. Firstly, we recall the *local variation method*, a derivative-free continuous optimization technique introduced in [15] for finding solutions of variational problems and used, in particular, in [16] for functional minimization problems and in [42, 19] for zero-sum games. Then, we approximate the Nash equilibrium of the game by combining the algorithm (\mathcal{A}) with the local variation method.

In order to achieve this goal, in this section we consider the following assumptions on $\Gamma_{p,q}$.

(\mathscr{A}_1) the function F is strongly concave on X_p uniformly on Y_q and the function G is strongly concave on Y_q uniformly on X_p , i.e. there exist two constants $m_F > 0$ and $m_G > 0$ such that, for any $x, x', x'' \in X_p$, any $y, y', y'' \in Y_q$ and any $t \in [0, 1]$:

$$F(tx' + (1-t)x'', y) \ge tF(x', y) + (1-t)F(x'', y) + m_F t(1-t) \|x' - x''\|_{X_p}^2;$$

$$G(x, ty' + (1-t)y'') \ge tG(x, y') + (1-t)G(x, y'') + m_G t(1-t) \|y' - y''\|_{Y_q}^2;$$

(A) there exists $\gamma > 1$ such that, for any $x_1, x_2 \in X_p$ and $y \in Y_q$

$$(H(x_1, x_2, y)\varphi, \varphi)_{X_p} \ge \gamma \|\varphi\|_{X_p}^2 \quad \text{for any } \varphi \in X_p,$$

where $H(x_1, x_2, y) : X_p \to X_p$ is the operator defined by

$$H(x_1, x_2, y) \coloneqq [D_x^2 F(x_1, y)]^{-1} \circ D_y(D_x F)(x_1, y)$$
$$\circ [D_y^2 G(x_2, y)]^{-1} \circ D_x(D_y G)(x_2, y).$$

Remark 4.1 If F is strongly concave on X_p uniformly on Y_q , then the function $F(\cdot, y)$ is strongly concave for any $y \in Y_q$. The converse is not true in general (this is the case, for example, if F is defined on \mathbb{R}^2 by $F(x, y) = -x^2 e^y$). Clearly, a function can be strongly concave on X_p uniformly on Y_q and can be not concave on $X_p \times Y_q$ (take, for example, F defined on \mathbb{R}^2 by $F(x, y) = -x^2(e^y + 1)$). Similar arguments hold also when G is strongly concave on Y_q uniformly on X_p .

Remark 4.2 Conditions $(\mathscr{A}_1)-(\mathscr{A}_2)$ are more restrictive than $(\mathscr{H}_1)-(\mathscr{H}_2)$. In fact, (\mathscr{A}_1) implies (\mathscr{H}_1) in light of Remarks 2.1 and 4.1, whereas (\mathscr{A}_2) implies (\mathscr{H}_2) in light of Remark 2.2. Therefore, all the results obtained in Sections 2 and 3 for $\Gamma = \{2, X, Y, F, G\}$ apply when we replace Γ with $\Gamma_{p,q} = \{2, X_p, Y_q, F, G\}$ and $(\mathscr{H}_1)-(\mathscr{H}_2)$ with $(\mathscr{A}_1)-(\mathscr{A}_2)$.

We emphasize that, although $(\mathscr{A}_1)-(\mathscr{A}_2)$ are more restrictive, they will allow to handle situations where the best response functions are not explicit. In fact, the following examples illustrate two games which belong to the class \mathcal{H} , satisfy assumptions $(\mathscr{A}_1)-(\mathscr{A}_2)$, and where the best response functions of both players cannot be computed explicitly. **Example 4.1** Let $\Gamma_{p,q} = \{2, X_p, Y_q, F, G\}$ be the game where $X_p = Y_q = \mathbb{R}$ and the payoff functions are defined by

$$F(x,y) = -x^{2} - \cos x \sin y - 5xy,$$

$$G(x,y) = \frac{1}{1+y^{2}} - 4y^{2} + y - 12xy.$$

The function F is strongly concave on $X_p = \mathbb{R}$ uniformly on $Y_q = \mathbb{R}$ since $D_x^2 F(x, y) = -2 + \cos x \sin y \le -1$ for any $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$, and the function G is strongly concave on $Y_q = \mathbb{R}$ uniformly on $X_p = \mathbb{R}$ since $D_y^2 G(x, y) = [(6y^2 - 2)/(1 + y^2)^3] - 8 \le -15/2$ for any $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$. So (\mathscr{A}_1) holds. Moreover

$$\frac{4}{3} \le \lambda_1 = \sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{R}^2} \left| \frac{D_y(D_x F)(x,y)}{D_x^2 F(x,y)} \right| = \sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{R}^2} \frac{5 - \sin x \cos y}{2 - \cos x \sin y} \le 6,$$
$$\lambda_2 = \sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{R}^2} \left| \frac{D_x(D_y G)(x,y)}{D_y^2 G(x,y)} \right| = \sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{R}^2} \frac{6(y^2 + 1)^3}{4y^6 + 12y^4 + 9y^2 + 5} = \frac{8}{5}.$$

Therefore $\Gamma_{p,q} \in \mathcal{H}$. Furthermore

$$H(x_1, x_2, y) = \frac{(5 - \sin x_1 \cos y)[6(y^2 + 1)^3]}{(2 - \cos x_1 \sin y)(4y^6 + 12y^4 + 9y^2 + 5)}$$

$$\geq \inf_{(x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^2} \frac{5 - \sin x \cos y}{2 - \cos x \sin y} \cdot \inf_{(x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^2} \frac{6(y^2 + 1)^3}{4y^6 + 12y^4 + 9y^2 + 5} \geq \frac{4}{3} \cdot \frac{6}{5} = \frac{8}{5} > 1,$$

for any $x_1, x_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}$. Hence (\mathscr{A}_2) is satisfied by taking $\gamma = 8/5$.

Note that $\Gamma_{p,q}$ does not belong either to the class of weighted potential games illustrated in Remark 2.4 or to the class of games described in Section 2.3.

Example 4.2 Let $\Gamma_{p,q} = \{2, X_p, Y_q, F, G\}$ be a weighted potential game belonging to the class considered in Example 2.1 with $h_F, h_G, \beta_F, \beta_G$ specified in (16) and $k_F \equiv k_G \equiv 0$. Since $D_x^2 F(x, y) = D_y^2 G(x, y) \leq$ -15/2 for any $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$, then F is strongly concave on $X_p = \mathbb{R}$ uniformly on $Y_q = \mathbb{R}$ and G is strongly concave on $Y_q = \mathbb{R}$ uniformly on $X_p = \mathbb{R}$, so (\mathscr{A}_1) holds. Moreover, in light of Remark 2.4, $\Gamma_{p,q} \in \mathcal{H}$ and (\mathscr{A}_2) is satisfied by taking $\gamma = 36/25$.

4.1 The local variation method

Now, let us describe the local variation method (introduced in [15]) that allows, by using only the values of the function, both to find an approximation of the unique maximizer of a strongly concave real-valued function defined on a finite dimensional space and to obtain an estimation of the distance between the approximation calculated and the (exact) maximizer. Such a method will be employed in our numerical method to approximate the best responses of the players acting in $\Gamma_{p,q}$.

It is worth to highlight that such a method belongs to the class of *coordinate descent methods*, widely used in constrained and unconstrained optimization (see, e.g., [3, Chapter 6], [8, Chapters 1 and 2] or [48, Chapter 3]).

We first illustrate the local variation method to find an approximation of the unique maximizer of a real-valued function f defined on \mathbb{R}^N (following the scheme proposed in [16]), then we generalize such a method to a real-valued function J defined on a general finite dimensional space V_N . So, let us denote by $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\mathbb{R}^N}$ the usual inner product on \mathbb{R}^N and by $\|\cdot\|_{\mathbb{R}^N}$ the Euclidean norm, and consider $f: \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$.

 $(Step \ \theta)$ Fix an initial point $(z_1^0, z_2^0, \dots, z_N^0) \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and a range $\epsilon > 0$.

(Step 1) Define:

$$\begin{aligned} \Theta_1 &\coloneqq f(z_1^0, z_2^0, z_3^0, \dots, z_N^0), \\ \Theta_1^+ &\coloneqq f(z_1^0 + \epsilon, z_2^0, z_3^0, \dots, z_N^0), \\ \Theta_1^- &\coloneqq f(z_1^0 - \epsilon, z_2^0, z_3^0, \dots, z_N^0). \end{aligned}$$

Find the point in the set $\{z_1^0, z_1^0 + \epsilon, z_1^0 - \epsilon\}$ which corresponds to the maximum of the set $\{\Theta_1, \Theta_1^+, \Theta_1^-\}$ and denote it by $z_{1,1}^{\epsilon}$.

(Step 2) Define:

$$\begin{split} \Theta_2 &\coloneqq f(z_{1,1}^{\epsilon}, z_2^0, z_3^0, \dots, z_N^0), \\ \Theta_2^+ &\coloneqq f(z_{1,1}^{\epsilon}, z_2^0 + \epsilon, z_3^0, \dots, z_N^0), \\ \Theta_2^- &\coloneqq f(z_{1,1}^{\epsilon}, z_2^0 - \epsilon, z_3^0, \dots, z_N^0). \end{split}$$

Find the point in the set $\{z_2^0, z_2^0 + \epsilon, z_2^0 - \epsilon\}$ which corresponds to the maximum of the set $\{\Theta_2, \Theta_2^+, \Theta_2^-\}$ and denote it by $z_{1,2}^{\epsilon}$.

(Step i) Define:

$$\begin{split} \Theta_i &\coloneqq f(z_{1,1}^{\epsilon}, z_{1,2}^{\epsilon}, \dots, z_{1,i-1}^{\epsilon}, z_i^0, z_{i+1}^0, \dots, z_N^0), \\ \Theta_i^+ &\coloneqq f(z_{1,1}^{\epsilon}, z_{1,2}^{\epsilon}, \dots, z_{1,i-1}^{\epsilon}, z_i^0 + \epsilon, z_{i+1}^0, \dots, z_N^0), \\ \Theta_i^- &\coloneqq f(z_{1,1}^{\epsilon}, z_{1,2}^{\epsilon}, \dots, z_{1,i-1}^{\epsilon}, z_i^0 - \epsilon, z_{i+1}^0, \dots, z_N^0). \end{split}$$

Find the point in the set $\{z_i^0, z_i^0 + \epsilon, z_i^0 - \epsilon\}$ which corresponds to the maximum of the set $\{\Theta_i, \Theta_i^+, \Theta_i^-\}$ and denote it by $z_{1,i}^{\epsilon}$.

(Step N) Define:

$$\begin{split} \Theta_N &\coloneqq f(z_{1,1}^{\epsilon}, z_{1,2}^{\epsilon}, \dots, z_{1,N-1}^{\epsilon}, z_N^0), \\ \Theta_N^+ &\coloneqq f(z_{1,1}^{\epsilon}, z_{1,2}^{\epsilon}, \dots, z_{1,N-1}^{\epsilon}, z_N^0 + \epsilon), \\ \Theta_N^- &\coloneqq f(z_{1,1}^{\epsilon}, z_{1,2}^{\epsilon}, \dots, z_{1,N-1}^{\epsilon}, z_N^0 - \epsilon). \end{split}$$

Find the point in the set $\{z_N^0, z_N^0 + \epsilon, z_N^0 - \epsilon\}$ which corresponds to the maximum of the set $\{\Theta_N, \Theta_N^+, \Theta_N^-\}$ and denote it by $z_{1,N}^{\epsilon}$. Hence, the vector $z_1^{\epsilon} \coloneqq (z_{1,1}^{\epsilon}, z_{1,2}^{\epsilon}, \dots, z_{1,N}^{\epsilon})$ is constructed.

(Step R) Repeat the steps from 1 to N choosing z_1^{ϵ} as initial point and the same range ϵ , and get $z_2^{\epsilon} \coloneqq (z_{2,1}^{\epsilon}, z_{2,2}^{\epsilon}, \dots, z_{2,N}^{\epsilon}).$

(Step S) Continue until obtaining a stationary vector $\bar{z}^{\epsilon} := (\bar{z}_1^{\epsilon}, \bar{z}_2^{\epsilon}, \dots, \bar{z}_N^{\epsilon})$, i.e. a vector which satisfies the following inequalities

$$\begin{cases}
\Theta_1^+ \le \Theta_1 \\
\Theta_1^- \le \Theta_1 \\
\vdots & \Longleftrightarrow \\
\Theta_N^+ \le \Theta_N \\
\Theta_N^- \le \Theta_N.
\end{cases}
\begin{cases}
f(\bar{z}_1^\epsilon \pm \epsilon, \bar{z}_2^\epsilon, \dots, \bar{z}_N^\epsilon) \le f(\bar{z}_1^\epsilon, \bar{z}_2^\epsilon, \dots, \bar{z}_N^\epsilon) \\
\vdots & \vdots \\
f(\bar{z}_1^\epsilon, \bar{z}_2^\epsilon, \dots, \bar{z}_N^\epsilon \pm \epsilon) \le f(\bar{z}_1^\epsilon, \bar{z}_2^\epsilon, \dots, \bar{z}_N^\epsilon).
\end{cases}$$
(35)

The existence of a vector verifying (35) is shown in [16]. For the sake of completeness we give below the statement and the proof of such a result.

Lemma 4.1 (Lemme 1.1 in [16]). Let $f: \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ be a strongly concave function and let $\epsilon > 0$. Then, there exists a vector \overline{z}^{ϵ} satisfying (35), which is obtained by repeating a finite number of times the steps from 1 to N of the local variation method.

Proof. Firstly, it is worth to note that the strong concavity of f implies

$$\lim_{\|z\|_{\mathbb{R}^N} \to +\infty} f(z) = -\infty.$$
(36)

Let $(z_k^{\epsilon})_k$ be the sequence where $z_k^{\epsilon} \coloneqq (z_{k,1}^{\epsilon}, z_{k,2}^{\epsilon}, \dots, z_{k,N}^{\epsilon})$ is the vector obtained after repeating k times the steps from 1 to N. Then, the sequence $(z_k^{\epsilon})_k$ is necessarily bounded. In fact, by contradiction, if $\lim_{k \to +\infty} ||z_k^{\epsilon}||_{\mathbb{R}^N} = +\infty$ then $\lim_{k \to +\infty} f(z_k^{\epsilon}) = -\infty$, in light of (36). This is not possible since $(f(z_k^{\epsilon}))_k$ is an increasing sequence, by construction. Therefore $(z_k^{\epsilon})_k$ is bounded and, consequently, there exists a constant C > 0 such that $|z_{k,i}^{\epsilon}| \leq C$ for any $i \in \{1, \dots, N\}$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Given the above and since $z_{k,i}^{\epsilon} = z_i^0 + m_{k,i}\epsilon$ for some $m_{k,i} \in \mathbb{Z}$, there exists $\overline{k} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $z_k^{\epsilon} = z_k^{\epsilon}$ for any $k > \overline{k}$ and $z_{\overline{k}}^{\epsilon}$ necessarily satisfies (35), so the result is proved. \Box

We emphasize that the convergence of the local variation method has been shown in [16] for functions defined on a finite dimensional space, whereas, in [42] an error estimation in the case of functions defined on \mathbb{R}^N has been claimed in order to obtain error bounds in zero-sum games. In this paper, having in mind to obtain error estimations for non zero-sum games defined in finite dimensional spaces, we need to prove, preliminarily, error bounds and convergence of the local variation method for functions defined on \mathbb{R}^N . So, in the next lemma we address this issue, by exploiting the proof of Théorème 3.1 in [16]. Before proving the result, we recall that, when $f \colon \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ is a differentiable function and $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$, the Taylor's theorem guarantees

$$\exists \mathcal{I}_x \subseteq \mathbb{R}^N \text{ s.t. } f(x+h) - f(x) = (\nabla f(x), h)_{\mathbb{R}^N} + r(x, h) \quad \forall h \in \mathcal{I}_x,$$
(37)

where \mathcal{I}_x is a neighbourhood of 0 depending on x, $\nabla f(x) \in \mathbb{R}^N$ is the gradient of f at x, and the remainder r(x,h) satisfies $\lim_{h\to 0} r(x,h)/\|h\|_{\mathbb{R}^N} = 0$. Moreover, if a differentiable function $f \colon \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ is strongly concave then there exists m > 0 such that

$$f(x'') - f(x') \le (\nabla f(x'), x'' - x')_{\mathbb{R}^N} - m \|x'' - x'\|_{\mathbb{R}^N}^2;$$
(38)

for any $x', x'' \in \mathbb{R}^N$.

Lemma 4.2. Let $f : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ be a differentiable and strongly concave function on \mathbb{R}^N . Assume that there exist $C_1 > 0$, $C_0 \ge 0$ and $\tau > 1$ such that

$$|r(x,h)| \le C_1 ||h||_{\mathbb{R}^N}^{\tau} + C_0 ||h||_{\mathbb{R}^N}^{\tau+1} \quad \text{for any } x \in \mathbb{R}^N \text{ and } h \in \mathcal{I}_x,$$

$$(39)$$

where r and \mathcal{I}_x are defined in (37).

Let $\epsilon > 0$ and let $z^{\epsilon} \in \mathbb{R}^N$ be the stationary vector obtained at step S of the local variation method applied to f, i.e. the vector satisfying the inequalities in (35). Then

$$\|z^{\epsilon} - z^{max}\|_{\mathbb{R}^N} \le \frac{\sqrt{N}(C_1 + \epsilon C_0)}{m} \epsilon^{\tau - 1},\tag{40}$$

where z^{max} is the unique maximizer of f over \mathbb{R}^N and m is the constant related to the strong concavity of f, defined in (38). Moreover, if $(\epsilon_n)_{n\geq 0} \subseteq]0, +\infty[$ is a sequence decreasing to zero, the sequence $(z^{\epsilon_n})_{n\geq 0}$ converges to z^{max} .

Proof. Let us note that z^{ϵ} is well-defined in light of Lemma 4.1, and that the last part of the statement follows immediately from (40), as $\lim_{n\to+\infty} \epsilon_n = 0$ and $\tau > 1$. Therefore, we prove only inequality (40). Let $\{e_1, \ldots, e_N\}$ be the standard basis of \mathbb{R}^N and let us fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$. Since z^{ϵ} verifies (35), by (37) we have

$$0 \ge f(z^{\epsilon} - \epsilon e_i) - f(z^{\epsilon}) = -\epsilon (\nabla f(z^{\epsilon}), e_i)_{\mathbb{R}^N} + r(z^{\epsilon}, -\epsilon e_i),$$

$$0 \ge f(z^{\epsilon} + \epsilon e_i) - f(z^{\epsilon}) = \epsilon (\nabla f(z^{\epsilon}), e_i)_{\mathbb{R}^N} + r(z^{\epsilon}, \epsilon e_i).$$
(41)

So, in light of (41) and (39)

$$(\nabla f(z^{\epsilon}), e_i)_{\mathbb{R}^N} \ge \frac{r(z^{\epsilon}, -\epsilon e_i)}{\epsilon} \ge -\frac{C_1 \|-\epsilon e_i\|_{\mathbb{R}^N}^{\tau} + C_0 \|-\epsilon e_i\|_{\mathbb{R}^N}^{\tau+1}}{\epsilon},$$

$$(\nabla f(z^{\epsilon}), e_i)_{\mathbb{R}^N} \le -\frac{r(z^{\epsilon}, \epsilon e_i)}{\epsilon} \le \frac{C_1 \|\epsilon e_i\|_{\mathbb{R}^N}^{\tau} + C_0 \|\epsilon e_i\|_{\mathbb{R}^N}^{\tau+1}}{\epsilon}.$$
(42)

Hence, by (42) and since $||e_i||_{\mathbb{R}^N} = 1$ we get

$$|(\nabla f(z^{\epsilon}), e_i)_{\mathbb{R}^N}| \le \epsilon^{\tau - 1} (C_1 + \epsilon C_0).$$

$$\tag{43}$$

As z^{max} is the maximizer of f and in light of (38) and (43), then

$$\begin{split} m \| z^{\epsilon} - z^{max} \|_{\mathbb{R}^{N}}^{2} &\leq -[f(z^{max}) - f(z^{\epsilon})] + (\nabla f(z^{\epsilon}), z^{max} - z^{\epsilon})_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \\ &\leq |(\nabla f(z^{\epsilon}), z^{max} - z^{\epsilon})_{\mathbb{R}^{N}}| \\ &= \left| (\nabla f(z^{\epsilon}), \sum_{i=1}^{N} (z^{max} - z^{\epsilon})_{i} e_{i})_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{N} |(z^{max} - z^{\epsilon})_{i}| \cdot |(\nabla f(z^{\epsilon}), e_{i})_{\mathbb{R}^{N}}| \\ &\leq \epsilon^{\tau-1} (C_{1} + \epsilon C_{0}) \| z^{max} - z^{\epsilon} \|_{1} \\ &\leq \sqrt{N} (C_{1} + \epsilon C_{0}) \epsilon^{\tau-1} \| z^{max} - z^{\epsilon} \|_{\mathbb{R}^{N}}, \end{split}$$

where $\|\cdot\|_1$ is the 1-norm of \mathbb{R}^N and the last inequality follows from the equivalence of norms in \mathbb{R}^N , more precisely from the inequality $\|z\|_p \leq N^{(1/p-1/q)} \|z\|_q$ holding for any $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and $p, q \in [1, +\infty[$. Therefore (40) is proved and the proof is complete.

Remark 4.3 Let us note that the convergence of the local variation method is guaranteed by assuming only (36), i.e. the coercivity of -f, as shown in [16, Théorème 2.1]. In Lemma 4.2 we added further assumptions related to the differentiability of f to obtain also an error estimation result (inequality (40) in the statement of Lemma 4.2).

Now, let $J: V_N \to \mathbb{R}$ where V_N is an N-dimensional real vector space endowed with the inner product $(\cdot, \cdot)_{V_N}$ and related norm $\|\cdot\|_{V_N}$. Moreover, let $\mathcal{B} = \{b_1, b_2, \ldots, b_N\} \subseteq V_N$ be the basis of V_N such that the matrix of $(\cdot, \cdot)_{V_N}$ relative to \mathcal{B} is the identity matrix I_N of size N, i.e. \mathcal{B} is the basis whereby for any $u, v \in V_N$ we have $(u, v)_{V_N} = x^T I_N y$ where $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_N) \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and $y = (y_1, \ldots, y_N) \in \mathbb{R}^N$ are the (unique) N-dimensional vectors such that $\sum_{i=1}^N x_i b_i = u$ and $\sum_{i=1}^N y_i b_i = v$, and where x^T is the transpose of the vector x. The vector $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_N) \in \mathbb{R}^N$ such that $u = \sum_{i=1}^N x_i b_i \in V_N$ is called coordinate vector of u relative to \mathcal{B} and we denote by $c_{\mathcal{B}} : V_N \to \mathbb{R}^N$ the linear function which associates with each $u \in V_N$ the coordinate vector of u relative to \mathcal{B} . By means of \mathcal{B} , the inner product $(\cdot, \cdot)_{V_N}$ of V_N can be represented via the usual inner product $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\mathbb{R}^N}$ of \mathbb{R}^N . In fact, for any $u, v \in V_N$

$$(u, v)_{V_N} = x^T I_N y = x_1 y_1 + \dots + x_N y_N = (x, y)_{\mathbb{R}^N},$$
(44)

where $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_N) = c_{\mathcal{B}}(u) \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and $y = (y_1, \ldots, y_N) = c_{\mathcal{B}}(v) \in \mathbb{R}^N$. Consequently, the norm $\|\cdot\|_{V_N}$ of V_N can be represented via the the Euclidean norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathbb{R}^N}$ of \mathbb{R}^N . In fact, in light of (44), for any $u \in V_N$

$$\|u\|_{V_N} = \sqrt{(u, u)_{V_N}} = \sqrt{x_1^2 + \dots + x_N^2} = \|x\|_{\mathbb{R}^N},$$
(45)

where $x = c_{\mathcal{B}}(u)$.

Let $J: V_N \to \mathbb{R}$ be a strongly concave function. Maximizing J over V_N is equivalent to maximize the function $f: \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$f(z_1,\ldots,z_N) \coloneqq J(z_1b_1+\cdots+z_Nb_N),\tag{46}$$

in the sense that even f is strongly concave (on \mathbb{R}^N) and

$$\{\bar{z}_1b_1 + \dots \bar{z}_Nb_N\} = \underset{v \in V_N}{\operatorname{Arg\,max}} J(v) \Leftrightarrow \{(\bar{z}_1, \dots, \bar{z}_N)\} = \underset{(z_1, \dots, z_N) \in \mathbb{R}^N}{\operatorname{Arg\,max}} f(z_1, \dots, z_N)$$

$$\left(\text{or, equivalently,} \quad \{w\} = \underset{v \in V_N}{\operatorname{Arg\,max}} J(v) \Leftrightarrow \{c_{\mathcal{B}}(w)\} = \underset{x \in \mathbb{R}^N}{\operatorname{Arg\,max}} f(x) \right),$$

$$\max_{v \in V_N} J(v) = \max_{(z_1, \dots, z_N) \in \mathbb{R}^N} f(z_1, \dots, z_N).$$

Before showing the error estimation and the convergence results, it is worth to recall that, when J is differentiable on V_N and given $u \in V_N$, the Taylor's theorem ensures

$$\exists \mathcal{V}_u \subseteq V_N \text{ s.t. } J(u+v) - J(u) = \langle DJ(u), v \rangle_{V_N^* \times V_N} + R(u,v) \quad \forall v \in \mathcal{V}_u,$$
(47)

where \mathcal{V}_u is a neighbourhood of 0 depending on u and R(u, v) is the remainder, and furthermore that if a differentiable function $J: V_N \to \mathbb{R}$ is strongly concave then there exists m > 0 such that

$$J(u'') - J(u') \le \langle DJ(u'), u'' - u' \rangle_{V_N^* \times V_N} - m \|u'' - u'\|_{V_N}^2$$
(48)

for any $u', u'' \in V_N$. Finally, we say that $w^{\epsilon} \in V_N$ is the point generated by applying the local variation method to J if $c_{\mathcal{B}}(w^{\epsilon})$ is the stationary vector obtained at step S of the local variation method applied to the function f defined in (46).

Theorem 4.1. Let $J: V_N \to \mathbb{R}$ be a differentiable and strongly concave function on V_N . Assume that there exist $C_1 > 0$, $C_0 \ge 0$ and $\tau > 1$ such that

$$|R(u,v)| \le C_1 ||v||_{V_N}^{\tau} + C_0 ||v||_{V_N}^{\tau+1} \quad \text{for any } u \in V_N \text{ and } v \in \mathcal{V}_u,$$
(49)

where R and \mathcal{V}_u are defined in (47).

Let $\epsilon > 0$ and let $w^{\epsilon} \in V_N$ be the point generated by applying the local variation method to J. Then

$$\|w^{\epsilon} - w^{max}\|_{V_N} \le \frac{\sqrt{N(C_1 + \epsilon C_0)}}{m} \epsilon^{\tau - 1},\tag{50}$$

where w^{max} is the unique maximizer of J over V_N , and m is the constant related to the strong concavity of J, defined in (48). Moreover, if $(\epsilon_n)_{n\geq 0} \subseteq]0, +\infty[$ is a sequence decreasing to zero, the sequence $(w^{\epsilon_n})_{n>0}$ converges to w^{max} .

Proof. Let $u, v \in V_N$ be two points verifying (47), whose coordinate vectors relative to \mathcal{B} are, respectively, $x \coloneqq c_{\mathcal{B}}(u) \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and $h \coloneqq c_{\mathcal{B}}(v) \in \mathbb{R}^N$, and let $f \colon \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ be the function defined in (46). Since Jis differentiable and strongly concave over V_N , then f is differentiable and strongly concave over \mathbb{R}^N . Moreover, by definition of Gâteaux derivative, the linearity of $c_{\mathcal{B}}$, and (46) we have

$$\langle DJ(u), v \rangle_{V_N^* \times V_N} = \langle d_G J(u), v \rangle_{V_N^* \times V_N}$$

$$= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{J(u+tv) - J(u)}{t}$$

$$= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{f(x+th) - f(x)}{t}$$

$$= \langle d_G f(x), h \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{N^*} \times \mathbb{R}^N}$$

$$= \langle Df(x), h \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{N^*} \times \mathbb{R}^N} = (\nabla f(x), h)_{\mathbb{R}^N}.$$

$$(51)$$

Hence, in light of (46), (47), (49) and (45) we get

$$\begin{aligned} |f(x+h) - f(x) - (\nabla f(x), h)_{\mathbb{R}^N}| &= |J(u+v) - J(u) - \langle DJ(u), v \rangle_{V_N^* \times V_N}| \\ &= |R(u, v)| \\ &\leq C_1 ||v||_{V_N}^\tau + C_0 ||v||_{V_N}^{\tau+1} \\ &= C_1 ||h||_{\mathbb{R}^N}^\tau + C_0 ||h||_{\mathbb{R}^N}^{\tau+1}. \end{aligned}$$

Furthermore, the constant related to the strong concavity of f is equal to the constant related to strong concavity of J. In fact, for any $x', x'' \in \mathbb{R}^N$, from (46), (48) and (51) it follows

$$f(x'') - f(x') = J(u'') - J(u')$$

$$\leq \langle DJ(u'), u'' - u' \rangle_{V_N^* \times V_N} - m \|u'' - u'\|_{V_N}^2$$

$$= (\nabla f(x'), x'' - x')_{\mathbb{R}^N} - m \|x'' - x'\|_{\mathbb{R}^N}^2,$$

where $u' \in V_N$ and $u'' \in V_N$ are equal to $c_{\mathcal{B}}^{-1}(x')$ and $c_{\mathcal{B}}^{-1}(x'')$, respectively. Therefore f satisfies the assumptions of Lemma 4.2, and so

$$\|z^{\epsilon} - z^{max}\|_{\mathbb{R}^N} \le \frac{\sqrt{N}(C_1 + \epsilon C_0)}{m} \epsilon^{\tau - 1},\tag{52}$$

where $z^{\epsilon} \in \mathbb{R}^{N}$ is the stationary vector obtained at step S of the local variation method applied to f, i.e. z^{ϵ} verifies (35), and $z^{max} \in \mathbb{R}^{N}$ is the unique maximizer of f over \mathbb{R}^{N} . Thus, $z^{\epsilon} = c_{\mathcal{B}}(w^{\epsilon})$ and $z^{max} = c_{\mathcal{B}}(w^{max})$. In light of (45) and (52),

$$\|w^{\epsilon} - w^{max}\|_{V_N} = \|z^{\epsilon} - z^{max}\|_{\mathbb{R}^N} \le \frac{\sqrt{N}(C_1 + \epsilon C_0)}{m} \epsilon^{\tau - 1}$$

so (50) holds.

The last part of the result follows from (50), since $\lim_{n\to+\infty} \epsilon_n = 0$ and $\tau > 1$.

4.2 The Numerical Inverse-Adjusted Best Response Algorithm

We introduce now a numerical method to approximate the unique Nash equilibrium $(\bar{x}_{p,q}, \bar{y}_{p,q})$ of $\Gamma_{p,q}$, referred as Numerical Inverse-Adjusted Best Response Algorithm via local variation method and denoted by (\mathcal{NA}) , which combines the local variation method described in the previous subsection and the algorithm (\mathcal{A}) defined in Section 3.

Numerical Inverse-Adjusted Best Response Algorithm (NA)

- (Step θ) Let y_0 be an arbitrary point in Y_q . Having chosen an initial point $\tilde{x}_0 \in X_p$ and a range $\epsilon_0 > 0$, apply the local variation method to the function $F(\cdot, y_0)$ and get the stationary vector $x_0^* \in X_p$.
- (Step 1) Choosing $\epsilon_1 < \epsilon_0$, apply the local variation method to the function $G(x_0^*, \cdot)$ with initial point y_0 and range ϵ_1 , and get the stationary vector $y_1^* \in Y_q$. Apply the local variation method to the function $F(\cdot, y_1^*)$ with initial point x_0^* and range ϵ_1 , and get the stationary vector $\tilde{x}_1^* \in X_p$. Compute $x_1^* \coloneqq \nu x_0^* - (\nu - 1) \tilde{x}_1^* \in X_p$, where ν is defined in (33).
- (Step 2) Choosing ε₂ < ε₁, apply the local variation method to the function G(x₁^{*}, ·) with initial point y₁^{*} and range ε₂, and get y₂^{*}.
 Apply the local variation method to the function F(·, y₂^{*}) with initial point x₁^{*} and range ε₂, and get x₂^{*}.
 Compute x₂^{*} := νx₁^{*} (ν 1)x₂^{*}.
 :

At the generic step n, with n > 2, given $x_{n-1}^* \in X_p$, $y_{n-1}^* \in Y_q$ and ϵ_{n-1} , we come to

(Step n) Choosing $\epsilon_n < \epsilon_{n-1}$, apply the local variation method to the function $G(x_{n-1}^*, \cdot)$ with initial point y_{n-1}^* and range ϵ_n , and get $y_n^* \in Y_q$. Apply the local variation method to the function $F(\cdot, y_n^*)$ with initial point x_{n-1}^* and range ϵ_n , and get $\tilde{x}_n^* \in X_p$. Compute $x_n^* \coloneqq \nu x_{n-1}^* - (\nu - 1)\tilde{x}_n^* \in X_p$. :

Figures 3 and 4 provide a schematization of $(Step \ 0)$ - $(Step \ 2)$ and a schematization of $(Step \ n)$, respectively.



Figure 3: (Step 0)-(Step 2) of (\mathcal{NA}) .



Figure 4: (Step n) of (\mathcal{NA}) .

The convergence of the numerical algorithm (\mathcal{NA}) is shown in the next theorem, whereas the implementation of the algorithm will be the subject of a future research. Preliminarily let us remind that the Taylor's theorem applied to $F(\cdot, u)$ at $x \in X_{\cdot}$ and to $G(x, \cdot)$ at

Preliminarily, let us remind that the Taylor's theorem applied to $F(\cdot, y)$ at $x \in X_p$ and to $G(x, \cdot)$ at $y \in Y_q$, respectively, guarantees

$$\begin{cases} \exists \mathcal{I}_{x,y} \subseteq X_p \text{ neighborhood of 0 depending on } x \text{ and } y \text{ such that} \\ F(x+h,y) - F(x,y) = \langle D_x F(x,y), h \rangle_{X_p^* \times X_p} + R_F(x,h,y) \quad \forall h \in \mathcal{I}_{x,y}, \end{cases}$$

$$\begin{cases} \exists \mathcal{J}_{y,x} \subseteq Y_q \text{ neighborhood of 0 depending on } y \text{ and } x \text{ such that} \\ G(x,y+k) - G(x,y) = \langle D_y G(x,y), k \rangle_{Y_q^* \times Y_q} + R_G(y,k,x) \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{J}_{y,x}, \end{cases}$$
(53b)

where $R_F(x, h, y)$ and $R_G(y, k, x)$ are the remainders.

Theorem 4.2. Assume $\Gamma_{p,q} = \{2, X_p, Y_q, F, G\} \in \mathcal{H} \text{ satisfies } (\mathscr{A}_1) - (\mathscr{A}_2) \text{ and}$

(i) there exist $A_1 > 0$, $A_0 \ge 0$ and $\alpha > 1$ such that

$$|R_F(x,h,y)| \le A_1 ||h||_{X_p}^{\alpha} + A_0 ||h||_{X_p}^{\alpha+1},$$
(54)

for any $x \in X_p$, $y \in Y_q$ and $h \in \mathcal{I}_{x,y}$, where R_F and $\mathcal{I}_{x,y}$ are defined in (53a);

(ii) there exist $B_1 > 0$, $B_0 \ge 0$ and $\beta > 1$ such that

$$|R_G(y,k,x)| \le B_1 ||h||_{Y_q}^{\beta} + B_0 ||h||_{Y_q}^{\beta+1},$$
(55)

for any $y \in Y_q$, $x \in X_p$ and $k \in \mathcal{J}_{y,x}$, where R_G and $\mathcal{J}_{y,x}$ are defined in (53b).

Let $\epsilon_0 > 0$ and $\epsilon_n = \epsilon_0/2^n$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and let $(\tilde{x}_0, y_0) \in X_p \times Y_q$. Then, the sequence $(x_n^*, y_n^*)_n \subseteq X_p \times Y_q$ generated by the numerical algorithm (NA) is convergent to the unique Nash equilibrium $(\bar{x}_{p,q}, \bar{y}_{p,q})$ of $\Gamma_{p,q}$.

Proof. The uniqueness of the Nash equilibrium of $\Gamma_{p,q}$ is guaranteed by the assumptions, Theorem 2.1(iii) and Remark 4.2. Moreover, the sequence $(x_n^*, y_n^*)_n \subseteq X_p \times Y_q$ is well-defined.

In order to show the result, let us define the following points, associated to $(x_n^*, y_n^*)_n$

$$z_n \coloneqq r_2(x_{n-1}^*) \in Y_q \tag{56a}$$

$$\tilde{s}_n \coloneqq r_1(z_n) \in X_p \tag{56b}$$

$$s_n \coloneqq \nu x_{n-1}^* - (\nu - 1)\tilde{s}_n = g^{\nu}(x_{n-1}^*) \in X_p \tag{56c}$$

$$\tilde{t}_n \coloneqq r_1(y_n^*) \in X_p \tag{56d}$$

$$t_n \coloneqq \nu x_{n-1}^* - (\nu - 1)\tilde{t}_n \in X_p, \tag{56e}$$

for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, where x_0^* is defined in (*Step 0*) of the numerical algorithm (\mathcal{NA}). Figures 5 and 6 represent the connections among the sequence $(x_n^*, y_n^*)_n$, the points defined in (56a)–(56e), and the sequence $(x_n, y_n)_n$ generated by the algorithm (\mathcal{A}) applied to $\Gamma_{p,q}$. In particular, Figure 5 schematizes such connections for (*Step 0*), (*Step 1*) and (*Step 2*) of the numerical algorithm (\mathcal{NA}), whereas, Figure 6 schematizes such connections for (*Step n*), with n > 2.

Figure 5: Representation of $z_n, \tilde{s}_n, s_n, \tilde{t}_n, t_n$, for n = 1, 2.

We start by proving that $\lim_{n\to+\infty}\|x_n^*-\bar{x}_{p,q}\|_{X_p}=0.$ For any $n\in\mathbb{N}$

$$\|x_n^* - \bar{x}_{p,q}\|_{X_p} \le \|x_n^* - x_n\|_{X_p} + \|x_n - \bar{x}_{p,q}\|_{X_p},\tag{57}$$

where x_n is the first player's strategy generated at (*Step n*) of the algorithm (\mathcal{A}) applied to $\Gamma_{p,q}$. Since $\Gamma_{p,q}$ satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 3.1 (in light of Remark 4.2), then

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \|x_n - \bar{x}_{p,q}\|_{X_p} = 0.$$
(58)

So, focusing only on the first term in the right-hand side of (57), we have

$$\|x_{n}^{*} - x_{n}\|_{X_{p}} \leq \|x_{n}^{*} - t_{n}\|_{X_{p}} + \|t_{n} - s_{n}\|_{X_{p}} + \|s_{n} - x_{n}\|_{X_{p}}.$$

$$(59)$$

$$x_{n-1} \xrightarrow{r_{2}} y_{n} \xrightarrow{\nu x_{n-1} - (\nu - 1)r_{1}(y_{n})} x_{n} = g^{\nu}(x_{n-1})$$

$$s_{n-1}$$

$$t_{n-1}$$

$$x_{n-1}^{*} \xrightarrow{r_{2}} z_{n} \xrightarrow{r_{1}} \tilde{s}_{n} \xrightarrow{\nu x_{n-1}^{*} - (\nu - 1)\tilde{s}_{n}} s_{n} = g^{\nu}(x_{n-1}^{*})$$

$$[G(x_{n-1}^{*}, \cdot), y_{n-1}^{*}, \epsilon_{n}]$$

$$y_{n}^{*} \xrightarrow{r_{1}} \tilde{t}_{n} \xrightarrow{\nu x_{n-1}^{*} - (\nu - 1)\tilde{t}_{n}} t_{n}$$

$$[F(\cdot, y_{n}^{*}), x_{n-1}^{*}, \epsilon_{n}]$$

$$\tilde{x}_{n}^{*} \xrightarrow{\nu x_{n-1}^{*} - (\nu - 1)\tilde{x}_{n}^{*}} x_{n}^{*}$$

Figure 6: Representation of $z_n, \tilde{s}_n, s_n, \tilde{t}_n, t_n$, for n > 2.

Let us analyze the three terms in the right-hand side of (59).

1. By definition of x_n^* in (Step n) and by (56e), we get

$$\|x_n^* - t_n\|_{X_p} = (\nu - 1)\|\tilde{x}_n^* - \tilde{t}_n\|_{X_p}.$$
(60)

Let us note that \tilde{x}_n^* is the approximation of the maximizer of $F(\cdot, y_n^*)$ over X_p generated by applying the local variation method to $F(\cdot, y_n^*)$ with initial point x_{n-1}^* and range ϵ_n (as represented in Figure 6), whereas \tilde{t}_n is actually such a maximizer, by (56d). In light of assumption (i), from Theorem 4.1 we get

$$\|\tilde{x}_{n}^{*} - \tilde{t}_{n}\|_{X_{p}} \leq \frac{\sqrt{p}(A_{1} + \epsilon_{n}A_{0})}{m_{F}}\epsilon_{n}^{\alpha - 1},\tag{61}$$

where m_F is the constant related to the concavity³ of F on X_p .

2. In light of (56b)-(56e) and Lemma 2.2(i), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|t_n - s_n\|_{X_p} &= (\nu - 1) \|\tilde{t}_n - \tilde{s}_n\|_{X_p} \\ &= (\nu - 1) \|r_1(y_n^*) - r_1(z_n)\|_{X_p} \le \lambda_1(\nu - 1) \|y_n^* - z_n\|_{Y_q}. \end{aligned}$$
(62)

Similarly to the previous case, y_n^* is the approximation of the maximizer of $G(x_{n-1}^*, \cdot)$ over Y_q come up by applying the local variation method to $G(x_{n-1}^*, \cdot)$ with initial point y_{n-1}^* and range ϵ_n (as represented in Figure 6), whereas z_n is effectively such a maximizer, by (56a). In light of assumption (ii), from Theorem 4.1 it follows

$$\|y_n^* - z_n\|_{Y_q} \le \frac{\sqrt{q}(B_1 + \epsilon_n B_0)}{m_G} \epsilon_n^{\beta - 1},\tag{63}$$

where m_G is the constant related to the concavity⁴ of G on Y_q .

3. By definition of x_n , by (56c) and by Theorem 2.1(i) we get

$$\|s_n - x_n\|_{X_p} = \|g^{\nu}(x_{n-1}^*) - g^{\nu}(x_{n-1})\|_{X_p} \le k\|x_{n-1}^* - x_{n-1}\|_{X_p},\tag{64}$$

where k is defined in (34).

Hence, using (60) to (64) into (59) and since $\epsilon_n \leq \epsilon_0$, we have

$$\|x_n^* - x_n\|_{X_p} \le k \|x_{n-1}^* - x_{n-1}\|_{X_p} + \lambda_1(\nu - 1)D\epsilon_n^{\beta - 1} + (\nu - 1)C\epsilon_n^{\alpha - 1},\tag{65}$$

where $D = \sqrt{q}(B_1 + \epsilon_0 B_0)/m_G$ and $C = \sqrt{p}(A_1 + \epsilon_0 A_0)/m_F$. Let $d_n = \|x_n^* - x_n\|_{X_p}$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and

³Since $F(\cdot, y)$ is differentiable for any $y \in Y_q$, then F is strongly concave on X_p uniformly on Y_q if and only if there exists a constant $m_F > 0$ such that $F(x'', y) - F(x', y) + m_F ||x'' - x'||_{X_p}^2 \leq \langle D_x F(x', y), x'' - x' \rangle_{X_p^* \times X_p}$, for any $x', x'' \in X_p$, $y \in Y_q$. ⁴Since $G(x, \cdot)$ is differentiable for any $x \in X_p$, then G is strongly concave on Y_q uniformly on X_p if and only if there exists

⁴Since $G(x, \cdot)$ is differentiable for any $x \in X_p$, then G is strongly concave on Y_q uniformly on X_p if and only if there exists a constant $m_G > 0$ such that $G(x, y'') - G(x, y') + m_G ||y'' - y'||_{Y_q}^2 \le \langle D_y G(x, y'), y'' - y' \rangle_{Y_q^* \times Y_q}$, for any $y', y'' \in Y_q$, $x \in X_p$.

 $d_0 = ||x_0^* - x_0||_{X_p}$. Then by (65) it follows

$$d_{n} \leq kd_{n-1} + \lambda_{1}(\nu - 1)D\epsilon_{n}^{\beta - 1} + (\nu - 1)C\epsilon_{n}^{\alpha - 1}$$

$$\leq k[kd_{n-2} + \lambda_{1}(\nu - 1)D\epsilon_{n-1}^{\beta - 1} + (\nu - 1)C\epsilon_{n-1}^{\alpha - 1}]$$

$$+ \lambda_{1}(\nu - 1)D\epsilon_{n}^{\beta - 1} + (\nu - 1)C\epsilon_{n}^{\alpha - 1}$$

$$\leq \lambda_{1}(\nu - 1)D[\epsilon_{n}^{\beta - 1} + k\epsilon_{n-1}^{\beta - 1} + \dots + k^{n-1}\epsilon_{1}^{\beta - 1}]$$

$$+ (\nu - 1)C[\epsilon_{n}^{\alpha - 1} + k\epsilon_{n-1}^{\alpha - 1} + \dots + k^{n-1}\epsilon_{1}^{\alpha - 1}] + d_{0}k^{n}$$

$$= \lambda_{1}(\nu - 1)D\sum_{m=0}^{n-1}\epsilon_{n-m}^{\beta - 1}k^{m} + (\nu - 1)C\sum_{m=0}^{n-1}\epsilon_{n-m}^{\alpha - 1}k^{m} + d_{0}k^{n}.$$
(66)

The summation $\sum_{m=0}^{n} \epsilon_{n-m}^{\beta-1} k^m$ is the *n*-th term of the Cauchy product of the two series $\sum_{i=0}^{+\infty} k^i$ and $\sum_{j=0}^{+\infty} \epsilon_j^{\beta-1}$, that is

$$\left(\sum_{i=0}^{+\infty} k^i\right) \cdot_c \left(\sum_{j=0}^{+\infty} \epsilon_j^{\beta-1}\right) = \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} \sum_{m=0}^n \epsilon_{n-m}^{\beta-1} k^m,\tag{67}$$

where \cdot_c denotes the Cauchy product. The two series in the left-hand side of (67) are convergent: in fact, $\sum_{i=0}^{+\infty} k^i < +\infty$ since it is a geometric series with ratio k < 1, and $\sum_{j=0}^{+\infty} \epsilon_j^{\beta-1} < +\infty$ as $\epsilon_j = \epsilon_0/2^j$ with $\epsilon_0 > 0$, and $\beta > 1$. Therefore, in light of the Cauchy theorem (see, for example, [30, Theorem 160]), the series in the right-hand side of (67) is convergent, so $\lim_{n \to +\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{n} \epsilon_{n-m}^{\beta-1} k^m = 0$. Analogously, $\lim_{n \to +\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{n} \epsilon_{n-m}^{\alpha-1} k^m = 0$. Given the above and since $\lim_{n \to +\infty} k^n = 0$, by (66) we have

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \|x_n^* - x_n\|_{X_p} = \lim_{n \to +\infty} d_n = 0,$$
(68)

hence, in light of (57) and (58), the sequence $(x_n^*)_n$ is convergent to $\bar{x}_{p,q}$.

Now, let us prove that $\lim_{n\to+\infty}\|y_n^*-\bar{y}_{p,q}\|_{Y_q}=0.$ For any $n\in\mathbb{N}$

$$\|y_n^* - \bar{y}_{p,q}\|_{Y_q} \le \|y_n^* - z_n\|_{Y_q} + \|z_n - y_n\|_{Y_q} + \|y_n - \bar{y}_{p,q}\|_{Y_q},$$
(69)

where y_n is the second player's strategy generated at (*Step n*) of the algorithm (\mathcal{A}) applied to $\Gamma_{p,q}$. Since $\Gamma_{p,q}$ satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 3.1 (in light of Remark 4.2), then

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \|y_n - \bar{y}_{p,q}\|_{Y_q} = 0.$$
(70)

Hence, let us consider the first and the second term in the right-hand side of (69).

1. Since $\lim_{n\to+\infty} \epsilon_n = 0$ and $\beta > 1$, then, by (63) we get

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \|y_n^* - z_n\|_{Y_q} \le \lim_{n \to +\infty} \frac{\sqrt{q}(B_1 + \epsilon_n B_0)}{m_G} \epsilon_n^{\beta - 1} = 0.$$
(71)

2. In light of (56a), the definition of y_n , Lemma 2.2(ii) and (68), we have

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \|z_n - y_n\|_{Y_q} = \lim_{n \to +\infty} \|r_2(x_{n-1}^*) - r_2(x_{n-1})\|_{Y_q}$$

$$\leq \lambda_2 \lim_{n \to +\infty} \|x_{n-1}^* - x_{n-1}\|_{X_p} = 0.$$
(72)

So, $\lim_{n\to+\infty} ||y_n^* - \bar{y}_{p,q}||_{Y_q} = 0$ by (69) to (72), i.e., the sequence $(y_n^*)_n$ is convergent to $\bar{y}_{p,q}$. Thus, the sequence $(x_n^*, y_n^*)_n$ converges to $(\bar{x}_{p,q}, \bar{y}_{p,q})$ and the proof is complete. **Remark 4.4** In the statement of Theorem 4.2, instead of setting $\epsilon_n = \epsilon_0/2^n$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we could choose any sequence $(\epsilon_n)_n$ such that the series $\sum_{j=0}^{+\infty} \epsilon_j^{\beta-1}$ and $\sum_{j=0}^{+\infty} \epsilon_j^{\alpha-1}$ are convergent.

Remark 4.5 Let us provide a sufficient condition for hypotheses (i) and (ii) in Theorem 4.2. Assumption (i) is satisfied if there exists a constant A > 0 such that $\|D_x^2 F(x, y)\|_{\mathcal{L}(X_p, X_p^*)} \leq A$ for any $(x, y) \in X_p \times Y_q$. In fact, since F is twice continuously differentiable, by applying the Taylor's theorem with Lagrange's form of remainder (see, e.g., [4, Formule de Taylor 3.5]), we get

$$|R_F(x,h,y)| = |F(x+h,y) - F(x,y) - \langle D_x F(x,y),h \rangle_{X_p^* \times X_p}| \le \frac{A}{2} ||h||_{X_p}^2,$$

for any $x \in X_p$, $y \in Y_q$ and $h \in \mathcal{I}_{x,y}$, where R_F and $\mathcal{I}_{x,y}$ are defined in (53a). Hence, assumption (i) holds setting $A_1 = A/2$, $A_0 = 0$, and $\alpha = 2$. Analogously, assumption (ii) is satisfied if there exists a constant B > 0 such that $\|D_y^2 G(x, y)\|_{\mathcal{L}(Y_q, Y_q^*)} \leq B$ for any $(x, y) \in X_p \times Y_q$.

Remark 4.6 In light of Remark 4.5, the games illustrated in Examples 4.1 and 4.2 satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 4.2. Moreover, we emphasize that the unique Nash equilibrium of the weighted potential game in Example 4.2 cannot be approximated through the methods based on the potential function (i.e., the ones exploiting the property that any maximizer of the potential function is a Nash equilibrium of the potential game), since such equilibrium is not a maximizer of the potential function (see [12, Proposition 6]). See, for example, [24, 52] and reference therein for further discussion regarding methods based on the potential function.

4.3 Error bounds and rates of convergence

In this subsection we provide the error estimations for the sequences $(x_n^*)_n$ and $(y_n^*)_n$ generated by the numerical algorithm (\mathcal{NA}) introduced in Section 4.2. Let us remind that $(\bar{x}_{p,q}, \bar{y}_{p,q})$ denotes the Nash equilibrium of $\Gamma_{p,q} = \{2, X_p, Y_q, F, G\}$.

Proposition 4.1. Suppose that the assumptions of Theorem 4.2 hold. Then, there exist $L, M \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\|x_{n}^{*} - \bar{x}_{p,q}\|_{X_{p}} \le Lk^{n} + \frac{M}{(2^{\alpha-1})^{n}} \quad \text{for any } n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(73)

where k and α are defined, respectively, in (34) and (54).

Proof. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, then

$$\|x_n^* - \bar{x}_{p,q}\|_{X_p} \le \|x_n^* - x_n\|_{X_p} + \|x_n - \bar{x}_{p,q}\|_{X_p},\tag{74}$$

where x_n is the first player's strategy generated at (*Step n*) of the algorithm (\mathcal{A}) applied to $\Gamma_{p,q}$. Let us analyze the two terms in the right-hand side of (74).

1. In light of (66) we know that

$$\|x_{n}^{*} - x_{n}\|_{X_{p}} \leq \lambda_{1}(\nu - 1)D \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \epsilon_{n-m}^{\beta-1} k^{m} + (\nu - 1)C \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \epsilon_{n-m}^{\alpha-1} k^{m} + k^{n} \|x_{0}^{*} - x_{0}\|_{X_{p}},$$
(75)

where $D = \sqrt{q}(B_1 + \epsilon_0 B_0)/m_G$ and $C = \sqrt{p}(A_1 + \epsilon_0 A_0)/m_F$. Since x_0^* is the approximation of the maximizer of $F(\cdot, y_0)$ over X_p obtained by applying the local variation method to $F(\cdot, y_0)$ with initial

point \tilde{x}_0 and range ϵ_0 (as represented in Figure 3), and x_0 is effectively such a maximizer (as defined at (Step θ) of the algorithm (\mathcal{A}) applied to $\Gamma_{p,q}$), then $\|x_0^* - x_0\|_{X_p} \leq C\epsilon_0^{\alpha-1}$ by Theorem 4.1. Given the above and since $\epsilon_n = \epsilon_0/2^n$, by (75) we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_n^* - x_n\|_{X_p} &\leq \lambda_1(\nu - 1)D\epsilon_0^{\beta - 1}\sum_{m=0}^{n-1}\frac{k^m}{(2^{\beta - 1})^{n-m}} \\ &+ (\nu - 1)C\epsilon_0^{\alpha - 1}\sum_{m=0}^{n-1}\frac{k^m}{(2^{\alpha - 1})^{n-m}} + C\epsilon_0^{\alpha - 1}k^n \\ &= \frac{\lambda_1(\nu - 1)D\epsilon_0^{\beta - 1}}{(2^{\beta - 1})^n} \left[\frac{1 - (k2^{\beta - 1})^n}{1 - k2^{\beta - 1}}\right] \\ &+ \frac{(\nu - 1)C\epsilon_0^{\alpha - 1}}{(2^{\alpha - 1})^n} \left[\frac{1 - (k2^{\alpha - 1})^n}{1 - k2^{\alpha - 1}}\right] + C\epsilon_0^{\alpha - 1}k^n, \end{aligned}$$
(76)

where the equality is obtained by exploiting the sum of the first n terms of geometric series of ratio $k2^{\beta-1}$ and $k2^{\alpha-1}$.

2. In light of Proposition 3.1, recalling that $x_1 = \nu x_0 - (\nu - 1)r_1(y_1)$ and $x_0 = r_1(y_0)$, and that r_1 is Lipschitz continuous by Lemma 2.2(i), we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_n - \bar{x}_{p,q}\|_{X_p} &\leq \frac{k^n}{1-k} \|x_1 - x_0\|_{X_p} \\ &= \frac{k^n}{1-k} \|(\nu-1)(x_0 - r_1(y_1))\|_{X_p} \\ &= \frac{(\nu-1)k^n}{1-k} \|r_1(y_0) - r_1(y_1)\|_{X_p} \\ &\leq \frac{\lambda_1(\nu-1)k^n}{1-k} \|y_1 - y_0\|_{Y_q} \\ &\leq \frac{\lambda_1(\nu-1)k^n}{1-k} [\|y_1 - z_1\|_{Y_q} + \|z_1 - y_1^*\|_{Y_q} + \|y_1^* - y_0\|_{Y_q}]. \end{aligned}$$
(77)

Since y_1^* is the approximation of the maximizer of $G(x_0^*, \cdot)$ over Y_q generated by applying the local variation method to $G(x_0^*, \cdot)$ with initial point y_0 and range ϵ_1 (as represented in Figure 3), and z_1 is actually such a maximizer (in light of (56a)), then $||z_1 - y_1^*||_{Y_q} \leq D\epsilon_1^{\beta-1}$ by Theorem 4.1. Given the above, by definition of y_1 in (Step 1) of the algorithm (\mathcal{A}) applied to $\Gamma_{p,q}$ and the definition of z_1 in (56a), it follows

$$||y_1 - z_1||_{Y_q} + ||z_1 - y_1^*||_{Y_q} \le ||r_2(x_0) - r_2(x_0^*)||_{Y_q} + D\epsilon_1^{\beta - 1} \le \lambda_2 C\epsilon_0^{\alpha - 1} + D\frac{\epsilon_0^{\beta - 1}}{2^{\beta - 1}},$$
(78)

where the last inequality holds in light of Lemma 2.2(ii), inequality $||x_0^* - x_0||_{X_p} \leq C\epsilon_0^{\alpha-1}$ proved in the previous point, and the definition of ϵ_1 . Hence, (77)–(78) imply

$$\|x_n - \bar{x}_{p,q}\|_{X_p} \le \frac{\lambda_1(\nu - 1)k^n}{1 - k} \left[\lambda_2 C\epsilon_0^{\alpha - 1} + D\frac{\epsilon_0^{\beta - 1}}{2^{\beta - 1}} + \|y_1^* - y_0\|_{Y_q}\right].$$
(79)

Finally, by using (76) and (79), from (74) we get

$$\begin{split} \|x_n^* - \bar{x}_{p,q}\|_{X_p} &\leq \frac{(\nu - 1)C\epsilon_0^{\alpha - 1}}{(2^{\alpha - 1})^n} \left[\frac{1 - (k2^{\alpha - 1})^n}{1 - k2^{\alpha - 1}}\right] + C\epsilon_0^{\alpha - 1}k^n \\ &\quad + \frac{\lambda_1(\nu - 1)k^n}{1 - k} \left[\lambda_2 C\epsilon_0^{\alpha - 1} + D\frac{\epsilon_0^{\beta - 1}}{2^{\beta - 1}} + \|y_1^* - y_0\|_{Y_q}\right] \\ &\quad = Lk^n + \frac{M}{(2^{\alpha - 1})^n}, \end{split}$$

where

$$L = C\epsilon_0^{\alpha - 1} \left[\frac{2 - \nu - k2^{\alpha - 1}}{1 - k2^{\alpha - 1}} \right] + \frac{\lambda_1(\nu - 1)}{1 - k} \left[\lambda_2 C\epsilon_0^{\alpha - 1} + D \frac{\epsilon_0^{\beta - 1}}{2^{\beta - 1}} + \|y_1^* - y_0\|_{Y_q} \right],$$

$$M = \frac{(\nu - 1)C\epsilon_0^{\alpha - 1}}{1 - k2^{\alpha - 1}},$$
(80)

therefore the result is proved.

Proposition 4.2. Suppose that the assumptions of Theorem 4.2 hold. Then, there exist $L', M' \in \mathbb{R}$ and W > 0 such that

$$\|y_n^* - \bar{y}_{p,q}\|_{Y_q} \le L' k^{n-1} + \frac{M'}{(2^{\alpha-1})^{n-1}} + \frac{W}{(2^{\beta-1})^n} \quad for \ any \ n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(81)

where k, α and β are defined, respectively, in (34), (54) and (55).

Proof. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, then

$$\|y_n^* - \bar{y}_{p,q}\|_{Y_q} \le \|y_n^* - z_n\|_{Y_q} + \|z_n - \bar{y}_{p,q}\|_{Y_q},\tag{82}$$

where z_n is defined in (56a).

Recall that $\bar{y}_{p,q} = r_2(\bar{x}_{p,q})$, by definition of Nash equilibrium. Then, in light of (63), (56a) and Lemma 2.2(ii) we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|y_n^* - z_n\|_{Y_q} + \|z_n - \bar{y}_{p,q}\|_{Y_q} &\leq D\epsilon_n^{\beta - 1} + \|r_2(x_{n-1}^*) - r_2(\bar{x}_{p,q})\|_{Y_q} \\ &\leq D\epsilon_n^{\beta - 1} + \lambda_2 \|x_{n-1}^* - \bar{x}_{p,q}\|_{X_p}, \end{aligned}$$
(83)

where $D = \sqrt{q} (B_1 + \epsilon_0 B_0) / m_G$.

Since $\epsilon_n = \epsilon_0/2^n \le \epsilon_0$ and by applying Proposition 4.1, from (82)–(83) we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|y_n^* - \bar{y}_{p,q}\|_{Y_q} &\leq D \frac{\epsilon_0^{\beta-1}}{(2^{\beta-1})^n} + \lambda_2 \left[Lk^{n-1} + \frac{M}{(2^{\alpha-1})^{n-1}} \right] \\ &= L'k^{n-1} + \frac{M'}{(2^{\alpha-1})^{n-1}} + \frac{W}{(2^{\beta-1})^n}, \end{aligned}$$

where $L' = \lambda_2 L$, $M' = \lambda_2 M$ with L and M explicitly stated in (80), and $W = D\epsilon_0^{\beta-1} > 0$.

Error estimations proved in Propositions 4.1 and 4.2 allow also to derive the rate and the order of convergence of the sequences $(x_n^*)_n$ and $(y_n^*)_n$. Before stating the results, we remind that a sequence $(z_n)_n$ converges *R*-linerarly to \bar{z} in a finite dimensional space *Z* (see, e.g., [48, pp. 28–30]) if the sequence $(||z_n - \bar{z}||_Z)_n$ is dominated by a sequence converging linearly to 0, that is if there exists a sequence of nonnegative real numbers $(\zeta_n)_n$ converging to 0 and a constant $t \in]0, 1[$ such that

 $||z_n - \bar{z}||_Z \le \zeta_n$ and $\zeta_{n+1} \le t \cdot \zeta_n$, for any *n* sufficiently large.

Proposition 4.3. Suppose that the assumptions of Theorem 4.2 hold and let $T = \min\{k^{-1}, 2^{\alpha-1}\}$ and $Q = \min\{k^{-1}, 2^{\alpha-1}, 2^{\beta-1}\}$. Then

- (i) the sequence $(x_n^*)_n$ exhibits $O(T^{-n})$ -rate of convergence;
- (ii) the sequence $(y_n^*)_n$ exhibits $O(Q^{-n})$ -rate of convergence;
- (iii) the sequence $(x_n^*)_n$ converges R-linearly to $\bar{x}_{p,q}$;
- (iv) the sequence $(y_n^*)_n$ converges R-linearly to $\bar{y}_{p,q}$.

Proof. First we note that $T \ge Q > 1$ since $k \in]0, 1[, \alpha > 1 \text{ and } \beta > 1$.

From (73) it follows that $||x_n^* - \bar{x}_{p,q}||_{X_p} \leq \xi_n$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, where $\xi_n \coloneqq (|L| + |M|)T^{-n}$. Hence, (i) holds. Moreover, $(\xi_n)_n$ converges to 0 and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\xi_{n+1}}{\xi_n} = \frac{1}{T} \in]0,1[,$$

therefore (iii) is proved.

Analogously, from (81) it follows that $||y_n^* - \bar{y}_{p,q}||_{y_p} \leq \chi_n$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, where $\chi_n \coloneqq (|L'|k^{-1} + |M'|2^{\alpha-1} + W)Q^{-n}$. Hence, (ii) holds. Moreover, $(\chi_n)_n$ converges to 0 and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\chi_{n+1}}{\chi_n} = \frac{1}{Q} \in]0,1[,$$

therefore (iv) is proved.

Remark 4.7 The same arguments used in Proposition 4.3 ensure that the sequence of strategy profiles $(x_n^*, y_n^*)_n$ exhibits $O(Q^{-n})$ -rate of convergence and it converges R-linearly to $(\bar{x}_{p,q}, \bar{y}_{p,q})$ in $X_p \times Y_q$.

To conclude, we highlight that the error bounds proved in Propositions 4.1 and 4.2 and the rates of convergence derived in Proposition 4.3 crucially depend on the fact that, in order to make the discussion easier to follow, we chose in the statement of Theorem 4.2 the sequence of ranges $(\epsilon_n)_n$ with $\epsilon_n = \epsilon_0/2^n$. However, improvements in the error estimations and in the rates of convergence could be achieved by choosing other suitable sequences of ranges satisfying the requirements in Remark 4.4.

References

- E. Adida and G. Perakis. "Dynamic pricing and inventory control: Uncertainty and competition". In: Oper. Res. 58 (2010), pp. 289–302.
- [2] H. Attouch, P. Redont, and A. Soubeyran. "A new class of alternating proximal minimization algorithms with costs-to-move". In: SIAM J. Optim. 18 (2007), pp. 1061–1081.
- [3] A. Auslender. Optimisation Méthodes Numériques. Paris: Masson, 1976. ISBN: 2225429006.
- [4] A. Avez. Calcul Différentiel. Paris: Masson, 1983. ISBN: 2-225-79079-5.
- [5] T. Başar. "Relaxation techniques and asynchronous algorithms for on-line computation of noncooperative equilibria". In: J. Econ. Dyn. Control 11 (1987), pp. 531–549.
- T. Başar and G.J. Olsder. Dynamic Noncooperative Game Theory. SIAM, 1999. ISBN: 978-0-89871-429-6.
- H. H. Bauschke and P. L. Combettes. Convex Analysis and Monotone Operator Theory in Hilbert Spaces. New York: Springer Science & Business Media, 2011. ISBN: 978-1-4419-9466-0.
- [8] D. P. Bertsekas. Nonlinear Programming. Belmont, MA: Athena Scientific, 1999.
- S. Bervoets, M. Bravo, and M. Faure. Learning with minimal information in continuous games. 2018. eprint: 1806.11506.
- [10] R. Brânzei, L. Mallozzi, and S. Tijs. "Supermodular games and potential games". In: J. Math. Econ. 39 (2003), pp. 39–49.
- [11] M. Bravo, D. Leslie, and P. Mertikopoulos. "Bandit learning in concave N-person games". In: Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems. Ed. by S. Bengio et al. 2018, pp. 5661–5671.
- [12] F. Caruso, M. C. Ceparano, and J. Morgan. "Uniqueness of Nash equilibrium in continuous twoplayer weighted potential games". In: J. Math. Anal. Appl. 459 (2018), pp. 1208–1221.
- [13] E. Cavazzuti, M. Pappalardo, and M. Passacantando. "Nash Equilibria, Variational Inequalities, and Dynamical Systems". In: J. Optim. Theory Appl. 114 (2002), pp. 491–506.

г		

- [14] Y. Chen, G. Lan, and Y. Ouyang. "Optimal primal-dual methods for a class of saddle point problems". In: SIAM J. Optim. 24 (2014), pp. 1779–1814.
- F.L. Chernous'ko. "A local variation method for the numerical solution of variational problems". In: USSR Comput. Math. Math. Phys. 5 (1965), pp. 234-242.
- [16] Y. Cherruault. "Une méthode directe de minimisation et applications". In: Rev. Fr. Inform. Rech. Oper. 2 (1968), pp. 31–52.
- [17] Y. Cherruault and P. Loridan. "Méthodes pour la recherche de points de selle". In: J. Math. Anal. Appl. 42 (1973), pp. 522–535.
- [18] J. Contreras, M. Klusch, and J.B. Krawczyk. "Numerical solutions to Nash-Cournot equilibria in coupled constraint electricity markets". In: *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.* 19 (2004), pp. 195–206.
- [19] M. R. Crisci and J. Morgan. "Implementation and numerical results of an approximation method for constrained saddle point problems". In: Intern. J. Comput. Math. 15 (1984), pp. 163–179.
- [20] E. J. Dockner, S. Jorgensen, N. Van Long, and G. Sorger. Differential Games in Economics and Management Science. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2000.
- [21] F. Facchinei, A. Fischer, and V. Piccialli. "On generalized Nash games and variational inequalities". In: Oper. Res. Lett. 35 (2007), pp. 159–164.
- [22] F. Facchinei and C. Kanzow. "Generalized Nash equilibrium problems". In: Ann. Oper. Res. 175 (2010), pp. 177–211.
- [23] F. Facchinei and J.-S. Pang. Finite-Dimensional Variational Inequalities and Complementarity Problems. New York: Springer-Verlag, 2003. ISBN: 978-0-387-21814-4.
- [24] F. Facchinei, V. Piccialli, and M. Sciandrone. "Decomposition algorithms for generalized potential games". In: Comput. Optim. Appl. 50 (2011), pp. 237–262.
- [25] G. Facchini, F. van Megen, P. Borm, and S. Tijs. "Congestion models and weighted Bayesian potential games". In: *Theory Decis.* 42 (1997), pp. 193–206.
- [26] S.D. Flåm. "Paths to constrained Nash equilibria". In: Appl. Math. Optim. 27 (1993), pp. 275–289.
- [27] S.D. Flåm and G.H. Greco. "Non-cooperative games; methods of subgradient projection and proximal point". In: Advances in Optimization. Springer, 1992, pp. 406–419.
- [28] S.D. Flåm and J. Morgan. "Newtonian mechanics and Nash play". In: Int. Game Theory Rev. 06 (2004), pp. 181–194.
- [29] D. Gabay and H. Moulin. "On the uniqueness and stability of Nash equilibrium in noncooperative games". In: Applied Stochastic Control in Econometrics and Management Science. Ed. by A. Bensoussan, P.R. Kleindorfer, and C.S. Tapiero. 1980, pp. 271–293. ISBN: 0444854088.
- [30] G.H. Hardy. Divergent Series. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1973. ISBN: 0198533098.
- [31] A. Juditsky, A. Nemirovski, and C. Tauvel. "Solving variational inequalities with stochastic mirrorprox algorithm". In: Stoch. Syst. 1 (2011), pp. 17–58.
- [32] S. Karamardian. "The nonlinear complementarity problem with applications, part 2". In: J. Optim. Theory Appl. 4 (1969), pp. 167–181.
- [33] D. Kinderlehrer and G. Stampacchia. An Introduction to Variational Inequalities and their Applications. Siam, 1980. ISBN: 978-0-89871-466-1.

- [34] J.B. Krawczyk and S. Uryasev. "Relaxation algorithms to find Nash equilibria with economic applications". In: *Environ. Model. Assess.* 5 (2000), pp. 63–73.
- [35] P.D. Lax and A.N. Milgram. "Parabolic equations". In: Contributions to the Theory of Partial Differential Equations. Ed. by L. Bers, S. Bochner, and F. John. 1955, pp. 167–190.
- [36] J. M. Leleno. "Adjustment process-based approach for computing a Nash-Cournot equilibrium". In: Comput. Oper. Res. 21 (1994), pp. 57–65.
- [37] S. Li and T. Başar. "Distributed algorithms for the computation of noncooperative equilibria". In: Automatica 23 (1987), pp. 523–533.
- [38] P. Mertikopoulos and Z. Zhou. "Learning in games with continuous action sets and unknown payoff functions". In: Math. Program. 173 (2019), pp. 465–507.
- [39] D. Monderer and L. S. Shapley. "Potential games". In: Game. Econ. Behav. 14 (1996), pp. 124–143.
- [40] J. Morgan. "Algorithme d'approximation interne de problèmes de point de selle avec contraintes via l'optimisation". (French). In: RAIRO Anal. Numer. 14 (1979), pp. 189–202.
- [41] J. Morgan. "An exterior approximation method for constrained saddle point problem via unconstrained optimisation". In: Quad. Unione Mat. Ital. 17 (1980), pp. 302–312.
- [42] J. Morgan. "Méthode directe de recherche du point de selle d'une fonctionnelle convexe-concave et application aux problèmes variationnels elliptiques avec deux contrôles antagonistes". (French). In: Int. J. Comput. Math. 4 (1974), pp. 143–175.
- [43] J. Morgan and F. Patrone. "Stackelberg Problems: Subgame Perfect Equilibria via Tikhonov Regularization". In: Advances in Dynamic Games: Applications to Economics, Management Science, Engineering, and Environmental Management. Ed. by A. Haurie, S. Muto, L.A. Petrosjan, and T.E.S. Raghavan. Boston, MA: Birkhäuser Boston, 2006, pp. 209–221.
- [44] A. Nemirovski. "Prox-Method with Rate of Convergence O(1/t) for Variational Inequalities with Lipschitz Continuous Monotone Operators and Smooth Convex-Concave Saddle Point Problems". In: SIAM J. Optim. 15 (2004), pp. 229–251.
- [45] A. Nemirovski, A. Juditsky, G. Lan, and A. Shapiro. "Robust Stochastic Approximation Approach to Stochastic Programming". In: SIAM J. Optim. 19 (2009), pp. 1574–1609.
- [46] Y. Nesterov. "Primal-dual subgradient methods for convex problems". In: Math. Program. 120 (2009), pp. 221–259.
- [47] A. Neyman. "Correlated equilibrium and potential games". In: Int. J. Game Theory 26 (1997), pp. 223-227.
- [48] J. Nocedal and S. Wright. Numerical Optimization. New York: Springer-Verlag, 2006. ISBN: 978-0-387-30303-1.
- [49] G. Papavassilopoulos. "Iterative Techniques for the Nash Solution in Quadratic Games with Unknown Parameters". In: SIAM J. Control Optim. 24 (1986), pp. 821–834.
- [50] L. J. Ratliff, S. A. Burden, and S. S. Sastry. "Characterization and computation of local Nash equilibria in continuous games". In: 51st Annual Allerton Conference on Communication, Control, and Computing. 2013, pp. 917–924.
- [51] J.B. Rosen. "Existence and uniqueness of equilibrium points for concave n-person games". In: Econometrica 33 (1965), pp. 520–534.

- [52] S. Sagratella. "Algorithms for generalized potential games with mixed-integer variables". In: Comput. Optim. Appl. 68 (2017), pp. 689–717.
- [53] S. Uryasev and R.Y. Rubinstein. "On relaxation algorithms in computation of noncooperative equilibria". In: *IEEE Trans. Autom. Control* 39 (1994), pp. 1263–1267.
- [54] T. Xiang and R. Yuan. "A class of expansive-type Krasnosel'skii fixed point theorems". In: Nonlinear Anal. 71 (2009), pp. 3229–3239.
- [55] E.H. Zarantonello. Solving Functional Equations by Contractive Averaging. Tech. Rep. 160. Mathematics Research Center, United States Army, University of Wisconsin, 1960.